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8 Kas BIRKET-SMiTH and FREDERICA DE LaGcuna:

original Eyak village sites, all of which are now abandoned.
As a result of this preliminary trip, enough was learned
about these Indians to show that they were a tribe distinct
in language and culture from the neighboring Prince William
Sound Eskimo, that they were distinet, too, from the Tlingit
to the east, and from the Atna, or Athapaskan speaking
tribes of the Copper River valley. On the basis of that infor-
mation the hypothesis was suggested that the Eyak were a
group of Athapaskans who had come from the Interior
down the Copper River to its mouthl. This hypothesis,
together with other theories about the cultural position of
the Eyak, will be discussed in the following pages. After
the information obtained from the natives had been com-
piled, the American author had the unique opportunity of
a week’s visit in the fall of 1935 with Colonel ABERCROMBIE,
the first American explorer to visit the Eyak. His written
report on that expedition contains perhaps the most im-
portant information to be found in any published source,
but it is very little in comparison to what he was able to tell
in conversation. In spite of the fact that his visit to the Eyak
was 51 years ago, the Colonel retains a vivid and detailed
memory of what he saw, and this valuable information has
been included in this report.

A few remarks about our native informants would be
of interest. The chief of these was Galushia Nelson, a man
about 54 years old in 1933. He was born and brought up
at Alaganik. His parents were Eyak, but on his mother’s
side, at least, there seems to have been some admixture of
Tlingit blood. At the age of ten he was taken to the United
States by an American couple who were interested in him.

! pE Lacuna 1934, 156,

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 9

He was educated there and had special training as a me-
chanic. His family, however, succeeded in inducing him
to return to Alaska, offering him false hopes of earning a
living at his trade. He had left his people living a more or
less unspoiled and happy life at Alaganik. He returned to
find them reduced in numbers by poverty and disease,
leading a miserable existence on the outskirts of Cordova.
The shock of disillusion was so great that the night he
landed Galushia attempted to commit suicide. The wound
in his breast was not fatal, but it may have been one reason
why he later contracted tuberculosis of the lungs. In 1933
he was sick and unable to work. All during the early months
of 1935 he was thought to be at the point of death, and
again attempted to kill himself. This attempt was for-
tunately unsuccessful, and he made such a miraculous
recovery from his sickness that he was able to resume
fishing that summer.

Shortly after his return to Alaska, Galushia married an
Eyak woman, Annie, by whom he had two sons: Johnny,

. about 6 or 7 years old, and a baby born about the beginning

of 1935. His wife has also had a sad history. As an orphan
she was brought up by an Eyak family who neglected her
shamefully. A disfiguring scar on her neck is said to be
the result of some skin disease which went untended. The
little girl had to sleep with the dogs beside the fire and it
is their tongues which are supposed to have cured her.
After she was married she was kidnapped by the oriental
crew of a cannery and was kept imprisoned for some weeks
before she was rescued. During her husband’s illness she
supported her little family by working in a cannery.
Galushia was a very intelligent informant and was
genuinely anxious to help us. He speaks good English and
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10 Kas BIRKET-SMITH AND FREDERICA DE LAGUNA:

was always careful to explain exactly what he knew and
what he did not know. Annie, moreover, was often able
to supplement her husband’s information. Most of the tales
which we have recorded she had learned from Old Chief
Joe. now dead. She would tell them to her husband in Eyak,
and he would translate them for us, usually verbally,
sometimes in writing. Annie was also our chief source for
kinship terms.

We attempted to use Mary Nelson, the wife of Galushia’s
older brother, Gus, but she proved unreliable and could
not speak English very well. There was some bad feeling
between Gus and Galushia, because the latter refused to
work for his older brother as the old customs required.

Most of our information about shamanism was obtained
from Johnny Stevens, a younger man than Galushia, but
who was supposed by most of the Eyak and Eskimo to
have shamanistic powers. Johnny, himself, did not claim
them openly to us. but there is no doubt that many of his
statements about shamanism in general are autobiographical
in character. He married a Copper River woman and had
been associated with a famous Copper River shaman,
Chitina Joe, from whom he was supposed to have acquired
his powers. Johnny also worked at one time for the Copper
River Railway and is very proud of this distinction.

A little information was obtained from Old Man Dude,
a shaman much feared by both the Eskimo and Eyak. An
account of some of his doings is given in Stories about
Shamans. He speaks very poor English, which is rendered
even more unintelligible because of a stutter. He could say
neither the sonant or surd th sounds of English, but ren-
dered them as glottalized surd [ Curiously enough, his
stutter is absent when speaking either Eyak or Eskimo.

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 11

Of the written sources of information about the Eyak
the most important are the narratives of JACOBSEN and
ABERCROMBIE. The former visited the Eyak in 1883, while
making ethnological collections for the Berlin Museum.
His observations, however, are not very critical. Colonel
ABERCROMBIE visited the Eyak the following year on his
expedition up the Copper River. He explained in conver-
sation that his report on this expedition was published during
his absence in the field. He did not know that it had ap-
peared in print until a friend mentioned the matter, and
he found then that the manuscript had been greatly cut.
Some of the discrepancies between the written report and
the account which he gave verbally are undoubtedly due
to errors in the printed version; a few, however, seem to
be due to forgetfulness. At the time of his visit to Alaganik
he had with him as interpreter a white man, Pete Johnson,
who had married an Eyak woman. ABERCROMBIE not only
learned a good deal about the natives from this man, but
also made close observations at first hand, all the more
remarkable considering that his purpose at Alaganik was
not ethnological but to secure guides for his explorations
up the river. It is only proper to remark that what he seems
chiefly to have forgotten is the extent to which the Eyak
in 1884 had been influenced by contact with the whites.
In his written report he mentions their guns and poor skill
in shooting, but he now reports that the Eyak had no im-
ported tools or weapons in 1884. The point is purely
academic, for his detailed verbal descriptions of stone
adzes and axes, bows and arrows, and methods of hunting
and fishing leave no doubt that the Eyak in 1884 were still
living a very primitive life. Whatever they may have ac-
quired from the whites was at that time only an addition
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12 Kas BIRKET-SMITH and FREDERICA DE LAGUNA:

to the native culture, and had not yet transformed the old
modes of living.

Colonel ABERCROMBIE is distrustful of PETROFF’s ob-

servations on the Eyak and believes that the latter did not

visit these people himself, and that it is only second-hand
information about them which is published in the Tenth
and Eleventh Census reports on Alaska. On the whole, it
is surprising how little has been written about the Eyak,
and of that little what a large proportion is valueless. A
discussion of the written sources is reserved for Part III.

Colonel ABERcROMBIE'S published report of his ex-
pedition of 1884 appears in the Compilation of Narra-
tives of Explorations in Alaska, 1900. Reference is made
in the text to two figures: one illustrates the small Eyak
canoe, the other is a diagram of the potlatch house at
Alaganik during a ceremony. Neither of these two figures
appears in the volume. This omission at once suggests that
the report has been reprinted from an earlier edition which
contained the illustrations, and this supposition isstrengthened
by the fact that most of the other articles in the volume have
actually appeared before, generally as separate books. For
example, ALLEN’s account of his expedition up the Copper
River in 1885 was first published in 1887 as a separate
book with illustrations, and it is from this edition that the
references in the following pages are drawn. The report
was afterwards republished, but without the illustrations,
in the volume of Compilation of Narratives. Mr. HENryY B.
Corrins, Jr., of the United States National Museum very
kindly undertook to discover if possible the original edition
of ABERCROMBIE’s report. He found that unfortunately this
hypothetical “original” edition does not exist, and the
Library of Congress has no record that it ever did exist.

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 13

Since Colonel ABERCROMBIE says that the published version
of this report is very much cut, the American author tried
to find the original manuscript. After lengthy inquiries at
the Army War College in Washington, D. C., where such
documents are kept, it was learned that ABERCROMBIE’S
manuscript had been destroyed many years ago, by per-
mission of an Act of Congress. There remains, however,
a Photographic Album, consisting of a number of ori-
ginal photographs taken by ABErRcromBIE in 1884, accom-
panied by short explanatory captions. Details of Plates
3 and 6, which are the most important for our study
of the Eyak, have been reproduced by permission of the
Army War College, and appear in our Plate 10. Some of
the line drawings published in the original edition of
ALLEN’s report of his expedition of 1885 have been copied
from these photographs taken by ABERcROMBIE. The pictures
which appear as text figures in the present monograph were
drawn by the American author, according to Colonel ABER-
cROMBIE'S verbal descriptions and were made with his
help. None of them are the text figures to which he referred
in his published report. They must be considered, there-
fore, only as approximations and not as accurate repre-

sentations.

The authors wish to express their thanks for the help
given them in the field. Among the many persons in Cordova
who gave welcome assistance, Mrs. MyrRa MacDoNALD,
formerly teacher at the native school at Cordova, and her
successors, Mrs. HaroLp E. Smrta, and Mrs. TiLLie Bur-
NELL, have given the most help for this particular phase of
our work. We also wish to thank Colonel W.R. ABER-
CROMBIE for his invaluable assistance. A grant from the
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Hinchinbrook Island, in spite of opposition from the Shal-
low Water Eskimo, to whom this region belonged. They
also dug clams at the present site of Point Whitshed Radio
Station, although this was also trespassing on Eskimo
territory. They went up Orca Inlet after bear, but never in
single canoes because of the Eskimo. The nearest foreign
villages were those belonging to the Eskimo on Mummy,
Hinchinbrook, and Hawkins Islands, and the Tlingit
villages of Katalla and Chilkat, after the latter had driven
out the Eskimo.

Johnny Stevens claimed that the Eyak territory ex-
tended as far into Prince William Sound as Knowles Head
beyond Port Gravina, and that the Eyak used to go as far
north as Ellamar to hunt. He admitted, however, that they
never went to Port Gravina before they had guns. It seems
clear that this expansion could not have taken place until the
Russians had enforced peace between the Eyak and the
Eskimo. The Eyak at one time had a settlement somewhere
in Port Gravina, for we were given the name of a potlatch
house there (see Houses). Johnny Stevens’ statement that
the Eyak used to hunt at Canoe Pass and Makaka Point
on Hawkins Island is probably untirue for the early days.

The Eyak villages were (1) Eyak, i-7iyaq, near Mile Six
of the Cbpper River Railway, on Eyak River about a mile
below the outlet of Eyak Lake; (2) Alaganik, dnaxanagq,
near Mile Twenty-one of the railroad, on the westernmost
distributory of the Copper River; (3) M’ “Fort,” below
Eyak on Eyak River, where a Russian post is said to have
been established; (4) Pei-cqéicdtis, translated by Chief Joe as
“beach”, but evidently derived from te’irc, “‘whelk,” on
the narrow isthmus between Eyak Lake and Cordova Bay.

The site roughly corresponds to the present native village

|
1
3

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 19

at Cordova, called Old Town. There was also a summer
camp on Mountain Slough, called tsia‘lixd-tthu, from tsi -
laxa-tl, “gravel,” and another cam Whits];-;cT,
called ti/xatl, “‘lots of clams.” ' ‘

(1) Captain Jacossen, who visited Eyak in 1883 when
collecting ethnological specimens for the Museum fiir

Volkerkunde in Berlin, reported that Eyak (‘“‘Iggiak’)

consisted of 10 houses.! ABERCROMBIE, who visited the
village the following year, writes: “‘The village is situated

on a small stream flowing from a lake into the tide water

about 8 miles to the westward of the extreme western mouth
of Copper River. It consists of a dozen houses built of logs,
slabs, and roughly hewn planks. At high tide it can be
reached from the east by boats, and from an arm of the
sea extending inland from Cape Whitshed. In going down
from Eyak to Nuchek [Eskimo village and trading post at
Port Etches, Hinchinbrook Island] the latter route, although
involving a short portage across a marsh, is preferred on
account of its saving something in distance, .but more
particularly as avoiding the rough sea common off Cape
Whitshed.”’2 Colonel ABERCROMBIE now remembers seeing
only 1 house and 4 ruined houses at Eyak. In 1885, Lieuten-
ant ALLeEn found only 5 houses at the same place, in
which lived 8 men and their families.® The U.S. Census of
1890 reports 27 houses and 28 families.* The village was
raised about the end of the century to make a site for a
cannery that was never built, and the natives moved to
Cordova. The differences between the number of houses

1 JacoBsen 1884, 286.

® ABERCROMBIE 1900, 397.
% ALLEN 1887, 37. i

* PETrROFF 1893, 158.

2*
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at Eyak as reported by these various writers may in part
be due to the fact that glacatl was so close that some visitors
(as ABERCROMBIE admitted in conversation) may have
included the houses of both villages in their reports on
Eyak, while ALLEN may have been reporting for Eyak
alone. _

(2) Though Jacossen also visited Alaganik, he gives no
description of the village. ABERCROMBIE writes: ‘‘Besides
Evak the chief village is a small fishing station, Alaganik,
on one of the innumerable branches of Copper River,
9 miles from the western mouth. Here upon a small island
are two houses of the general type already described [see
Eyak], and upon the mainland near by are five more.
Boats drawing over 18 inches of water can not, except
during the season of high water, and even then only at
flood tide, approach nearer than 2 miles. The population
of this village is constantly changing, few people living
there in winter.””! ABERCROMBIE now remembers only three
houses at Alaganik, in which about 120 people were living
in 1884. These houses were the two large buildings, pro-
bably potlatch houses (see Houses), and the small hut
in which the shaman lived with his two companions. The
two large buildings seemed to be new at the time, and
showed white influence in the manner of their construction.
Colonel ABERCROMBIE is mistaken, however, in believing
that Alaganik was founded in 1868, the year of the measles
epidemic. From what the natives told us, Alaganik must
have been one of their oldest villages. ABERCROMBIE has
probably forgotten the other houses which he mentioned
in his report, probably because he did not enter them.
CHARLES ROSENBERG, with whom the American author of

1 ABercrROMBIE 1900, 397.

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 21

the present monograph had a conversation before his death
in 1930, established the first trading post at Alaganik. The
store building is still standing (Plate 5, 2). Though we do
not know the exact date of its establishment, ABERCROMBIE
thinks it was about 1890. At the time of the first gold rush,

many prospectors took the Copper River route into the
interior. ROSENBERG kept a record of their names, the date

of their entry, and a brief note of their subsequent fortune.

This record is now preserved by the U. S. Marshal at Cor-

dova. ROSENBERG was familiar with ABERCROMBIE’S report .
and said that the latter was incorrect in speaking of Alaganik

as a summer village, since it was inhabited the year round.

This assertion is also supported by the natives, and in con-

versation, Colonel ABERCROMBIE also corrected his written

statement. Alaganik was abandoned in 1892 or 1893, fol-

lowing a severe epidemic, and the natives moved to Old

Town, Cordova. In 1890 the U.S. Census réported 12

houses and 12 families at Alaganik.?

(3) We have not been able to find any reference to the
village or to the Russian trading post at glacatt. In 1884,

‘however, ABERCROMBIE noticed some houses at this place,

but supposed them to be part of the larger village of Eyak

‘on the other side of the river.

(4) In 1883 JacosseEN encountered a few Indians from
Eyak encamped at the present site of Old Town. Apparently
the original village had been abandoned at that time.
Colonel ABERCROMBIE says that he noticed the remains of
an old village on the flats between Eyak Lake and Cordova
Bay when he was there in 1884. The large houses had
fallen in, but there were a number of small huts, about 6
by 8 feet. These were made of rough planks, set vertically,

L Perrorr 1893, 158.
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with bits of cloth tacked around the walls inside. He thinks
these were temporary shacks occupied by the natives while
they were drying herring. Between 1884 and 1890, two
canneries were built here. The Eleventh U.S. Census
reports the ““Odiak Canneries”” as supporting a population
of 273 persons, of whom only 12 could have been Eyak.
PETROFF writes: “‘Quite a settlement of Ugalentz Thlingit
[Eyak| has sprung up about these canneries, but their
houses are generally deserted during the winter for their
own homes.”’? In 1899 there were 59 Eyak living at the
canneries.? The buildings have since been torn down and
the site is now occupied by the buildings and yards of the
Copper River and Northwestern Railway.

(5) We have no record of the number of families that
used to occupy the fishing camps on Mountain Slough and at
Point Whitshed. In 1885 ALLEN found an old native and his
wife string.ing clams in a small cove west of Point Whitshed.?

ALLEN reports that in 1788 a single redoubt (opunaura) ‘

was built at the mouth of the Copper River, a few miles
south of Alaganik (‘‘Anahinuk’), “but at present [1885]
no traces of it remain. It is probable that a village of two
miserable bardbarras, called by the natives ‘Skatalis,” is
on the site of the old odinatishka of the Russians.”* “*Sdkha-
lis” (as he also spells it) at that time consisted of 2 houses,

cach about 12 by 13 feet, one of which sheltered 29 natives

and 10 dogs.® This village or camp is not mentioned by
the natives.
Jacossen visited a village of three families at Cape

! Perrorr 1893, 158, 66.
* Errior 1900, 739.

* ALLEn 1887, 36.

* ALLEN 1887, 19.

® ALLeN 1887, 38.

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 23

Martin. He writes: ““The inhabitants of the above-mentioned
places on the Copper River delta [Eyak, Alaganik, and Cape
Martin], including the village of Tschilkat [Chilkat], east
of Cape Martin, form one group, who, according to the
seasons, have their dwellings preponderantly now in one,
now in another of these places.”* At that time, 1883, Cap-
tain ANDERSON used to trade with the natives at Cape Mar-
tin. JACOBSEN has probably confused the Eyak with their
nearest Tlingit neighbors, for the Tenth U. S. Census lists
Cape Martin as a Tlingit village, containing 6 permanent
residents,? and PETROFF writes in 1890: “‘One of the favorite
hunting and fishing grounds of the Ugalentz tribe [Eyak],
and also a point of rendezvous with their Yakutat neighbors
[Tlingit], is the vicinity of Cape Martin, near the eastern-

“most mouth of Copper river. A small trading post has been

located here for many years.”® In 1884 Colonel ABER-
CROMBIE met a number of Cape Martin Indians at Alaganik.
He believes them to be Eyak, because they looked like the
Alaganik people and seemed to speak the same language,
as far as he could tell. In any case, he thinks that the Gape

~ Martin people could not have been in close communication

with the Yakutat Tlingit, because he gave these visitors at
Alaganik a letter to deliver to Yakutat. Some years later
they brought the letter to Nuchek and confessed that they
had been afraid to attempt the rather dangerous voyage
down the coast to the eastward. In view of this conflicting
testimony we cannot be quite sure what tribe lived at Cape
Martin. The population may have been mixed, especially
in later days. It should be mentioned, however, that Jacos-

1 JacoBsen 1884, 389.
2 PETROFF 1884, 29.
¥ PeTROFF 1893, 65.
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SsEN's collections from Cape Martin, now. in the Berlin

Museum, are decidedly Tlingit in character.

From time to time various estimates of the number of

Eyak have been made. These are summarized below:

1818 — 117 (51 males, 66 females). Census made by Inspec-
tor KosTLIVTSEV.?!

1834 — 150. VEN1AMINOV.?

1839 — Not more than 38 families. WRANGELL.®

1863 — 148 baptized Christians (73 males, 75 females)

TIKHMENEV.4
1870 — Some 200 families. DALL speaking of the “Esk_lmo
Ugalakmutes.’’s
1880 — 117 persons at “‘Ighiak’ and ‘‘Alaganu.’”’” PETROFF.®
1884 — 33 able-bodied men. ABERCROMBIE.? 120 persons
at Alaganik,. :
1890 — 154 (78 males, 76 females) PETROFF.8
We append a list of Eyak Indians which we compiled
in 1933. It may not be complete, and it may include Indians
who had already died. Chief Joe and his Eskimo wife
died during the winter of 1930—1931. Lucy, Annie, and
Emma (the last three on the list) can hardly be counted as
members of the tribe, since one is living in Kodiak, while
the other two are somewhere in the States. Of the 38 per-
sons on the list, 19 are pure Eyak as far as our genealogical
information would show, though Galushia and Gus Nelson,
' PETROFF 1884, 33.
* PETROFF 1884, 36. ErLvior, 1875, 227.
® WraNGELL 1839, 96.
* ELLiorT 1875, 228.
® DaLL 1870, 410; 1877, I, 21, DaLL is probably referring, however,
to the Eskimo inhabitants of Kayak Island. '
¢ PETROFF 1884, 29.

7 ABERCROMBIE 1900, 297.
& PeTrOFF 1893, 158.
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Annie Nelson, and Mmme Stevens
blood. Four are half white, one mi‘
half Eskimo, one is_ three-quarters
Copper River Athapaskan, two are |

claim some Tlingit

r white, six are
no, five are half
 Japanese. Not
included is the second son (name un n) born to Ga- \
lushia and Annie Nelson in 1935. i 1r 2
1—GusNelson. 45 ¢

2. Mary Nelson, his wife. + ¢

3. lelta, theu' son. N wid M‘{‘ :

[ &Mary*ﬂxeﬂ—daﬂgh
/  6."Willy Dude, step-son of Old M

father. * 77
2 _ 7. Evaline, daughter of Willy and Mary ﬂ C e, one quarter
~ white. ) esti A,[A_,,

1 8.-Galushia Nelson, brother of Gl j it i
9. Annie Nelson, his wife. ‘/&AT/U_
~ 10. Johnny, their son. | whk &t £
= 11. Eleana Saski, wife of Pete Sasél a'ndiﬁ;
- Galushia Nelson. )
12. Rosie, daughter of Eleana and Pete Saﬁﬂ,,'
13. John, son of Eleana and Pete Saﬁkl,phal' k
14. Alfred, son of Eleana and Pete askl half Eskimo. o !
s Std-Meam—Bade, T e we ¥
6’ w—&ﬁy—ﬁnde—hirson b A5 0 .
—Johnny Stevens. 'T"{'H- "1 g ,,.I\r““"
18. 7Daughter of Johnny Stevens and his first mfe;] halft
Eskimo. .
19 W1111am, son of Johnny Stevens and his secoﬁﬁ wife,
one half Copper River Athapaskan. b
20. Donny, son of Johnny Stevens and hi
21. Jack, son of Johnny Stevens and his second wife. “o-I—

.

' L e L : S Ll < lod
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22 =Earl; son of Johnny Stevens-and his seeond-wife. l’b’"‘“"‘”‘)
Richard, son of Johnny Stevens and his second wife. 34«17"“-
. Scar Stevens. 195~

-~ Minnie Stevens, his wife: 4/

23.

33.

34.
39.

36.

38.

Kas BIrkeT-SMiTH and FREDERICA DE LAGUNA:

Pete, their son. ™

. Malia or Mary, their daughter.
. Sophie, their daughter, wife of William Saitu (Japanese).

Billy, son of Sophie and William Saitu, half Japanese. v~

. Mabel, daughter of Sophie and William Saitu, half

Japanese. "®

. Mike Duval, son of Minnie Stevens. and Scar Stevens’

older brother: 7 * %

. Molly, daughter of Chief Joe and his Eskimo wife, half

Eskimo. T

Pauline, daughter of Chief Charlie and his Eskimo wife,
three-quarters Eskimo, and half-sister to Molly.]
Johnny Maclntyre. | vakowte = Wakfan

Son of Johnny MacIntyre and an Eskimo wife, half
Eskimo. £ M? v Chtntpe, o ('“')

Lucy, daughter of Johnny Maclntyre’s sister and a
white man, half white. Lukdia T

. Annie, daughter of Johnny Maclntyre's sister and a

white man.

Emma, daughter of Johnny Maclntyre's sister and a

d o AT
sl 1

white man. [

For the relationships of these individuals see the genea-

logical table, Appendix L.

Village Sites.

With Galushia Nelson as guide, the American author

made a short excursion in 1930 to the sites of the principal
Eyak villages.

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. - 27

The site of Alaganik is about 75 yards (70 m.) west of
Mile Twenty-one on the Copper River Railway, on the
north side of the tracks. The old houses stood on both sides
of a small stream which flows into Alaganik Slough just
south of the tracks. The site is now overgrown with bushes
except for a small grassy patch on the right (west) bank
of the stream, where RoSENBERG used to cut hay for his
mules. Here is the grave of J. W. SNEIDAKER, a white man,
whom ROSENBERG buried in 1899. The site is surrounded
by woods. The old houses have entirely fallen down, but
it was possible to trace the outlines of one house near the
grave, three walls of a second house higher up on the same
side of the stream, and a single wall on the opposite (east)
bank. We attempted an excavation in front of the best
preserved ruin and found only a pile of chips, a few glass
beads, scraps of iron, broken china, three wooden wedges
(Plate 11,4,5,6), the prow handle of a dugout (Plate 11, 7),
two spits for roasting fish (Plate 11,1,2), and part of a dead-
fall for mink (Plate 11, 3). The objects of native manufacture
are described below in the appropriate sections. We also
uncovered the wooden foundations of what may have been
a front porch, or other addition to the house, and the
foundations of an earlier structure.

The house was 29 feet 6 inches by 24 feet 6 inches

(9 by 7.5m.). The doorway, indicated by two upright

posts, was 2 feet wide, and was in the middle of one of the
longer walls, facing the stream. About 6 feet (1.82 m.)
inside the house walls, partitions ran along the two sides
and across the back, which marked off either the edge of
the sleeping bench, or less probably the rows of box-like
sleeping rooms, since no cross-partitions separating indi-
vidual cubicles were seen. All of these walls were indicated
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by horizontal logs. Unfortunately we did not uncover them,
and so we do not know if they were grooved to receive the
lower ends of the vertically placed wall planks, as described
by Galushia, or whether they were dovetailed at the ends,
as described by ABERCROMBIE (see Houses). Remains of

upright posts were seen in the two front corners, and a

similar rotted post was in the line of the rear partition, 10 feet
(3.05 m.) from the right wall. Our excavations were not
extensive enough to indicate whether the front porch, if it
was a porch, ran all the way across the front of the house.
It was 8 feet (2.44 m.) wide. This house seems to have
been rather unusual, since Galushia was not familiar with
porches on the old-style houses, and had never seen a
house with the door in one of the longer walls. It was usually
located in one of the shorter end walls.

In front and to the right of this house we uncovered the
rotted foundations of what may have been an earlier struc-
ture. The left rear corner of this ruin just touched the right
front corner of the first house. The second building was
29 feet 4 inches by 22 feet 10 inches (6.80 by 6.96 m.),
with the longer side parallel to the stream. It was not possible
to determine where the door had been, but it may have
been between the two overlapping sections of the front wall,
which formed a short passage 2 feet wide.

The native graveyard of Alaganik is on a high spur of
rock, about 150 yards (140 m.) east of the village. When
the railway was built, the rock was cut in two to make a
place for the tracks, and the graves in the middle of the

cemetery were thus destroyed. There are several modern
graves there, each marked with a Russian cross and enclosed
in a picket fence. There is also one of the old-style grave
houses or boxes for ashes. This is a little house built out
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of hand-adzed planks, but it lacks the four supporting
posts seen on a similar grave box at Eyak. This house has

a plank floor about 4 feet by 5 feet 10 inches (1.22 by

1.77 m.), with a gable plank roof, 3 feet 6 inches (1.06 m.)

high, the eaves of which touch the floor. That is, there were

no side walls. The ridge pole of the roof is supported at

each end by a wide plank, notched at the top to hold the

pole, and fitted at the bottom into a grooved plank set on

edge across the end of the floor. The ends of the house are

enclosed by smaller planks, set into the same grove. The

boards are held by iron nails. Beside the grave box was

lying a much weathered post, which Galushia identified as

the grave post of a chief of the Wolf People (see Moieties

and Chiefs). The post was hollowed out behind, like a

Tlingit totem pole, making a V-shaped cross-section. The -
top, in front, is carved to represent an animal’s head with

pointed ears, eyes, and a rather. indefinite mouth. The

bottom of the post had rotted so that it was impossible to

tell how high it had stood (Plate 8, 1).

Mr. RosENBERG'S trading post was not at the village,
but was built at the present site of Alaganik Station, at Mile
Twenty-two on the railway, on the same side of the slough
as the village. The original log cabin is still standing
(Plate 5,2) and is occupied by Mr. MCALLISTER.

About a quarter of a mile (400 m.) above the station,
on the north side of the tracks, is a dry cave. Galushia
told us that in his boyhood a shaman used to store his
paraphernalia here. Galushia removed the drum, but was
whipped by his parents and made to return it. We visited
the cave but found nothing but some adzed planks, which
Galushia thought might indicate that there had once been
a burial here. (The Prince William Sound Eskimo used to
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bury their dead in coffins made by lining a hole with
adzed planks. We found such graves both in caves and in
a shell heap on Hawkins Island. The Eskimo also placed
their dead in rough stone or plank coffins in caves, without
covering the coffin with earth.)

We also stopped at the site of glacatl, “Fort,” on the
west (right) bank of Eyak River, about half a mile (800 m.)
below the site of Eyak. The village is supposed to have
been just below the large rock, which, because of its resem-
blance to a fort, has given the name to the village (Plate 4, 2).
We dug in a few indefinite pits but found nothing except a few
fire-cracked rocks and traces of charcoal to a depth of 2 feet.

The site of Eyak is on the left (east) bank of Eyak River,
about half a mile (800 m.) below the railroad bridge at
Mile Six. It is at present occupied by a white man, Mr. NEL-
sox. and his Eskimo wife. The old houses are supposed
to have stood on land now used for a garden (Plate 5,1),
just north of a small tributary stream. Several objects,
including a stone mortar and pestle, and an old gun, are
<aid to have been found in the garden. The graveyard is
on the same side of the river, about a quarter of a mile
(400 m.) above the village. It is now almost entirely over-
grown with trees and bushes. Most of the graves are marked
with Russian crosses and picket fences (Plate 6,1). We
found the remains of one old grave box. It stood on four
posts, 4 feet 8 inches (1.42 m.) high. Two of these posts

were braced by slanting beams, nailed to them, with their

lower ends set into the ground. The floor of the box, or
house, was of planks, and measured 4 feet 3 inches by

4 feet (1.30 by 1.22 m.). The roof was missing, though one

of the supports for the gable, 3 feet (0.91 m.) high, and a
pair of slanting rafters at one end were left.

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 31

The site of t’ci'cqéicdtlé is now entirely obliterated. Chief
Joe said that it is now occupied by buildings belonging to
the Copper River Railway. There are no surface indications
to show whether the old houses were on the flat beside the
lake where the freight office and the railway yards are
located, or whether they were on top of the bank, on the
northwest side of the flat where the homes of the railway
employees have been built.

- The American author also visited the small site at Point
Whitshed Radio Station. It is called txalam qidl-ua by the
Eskimo, meaning “‘behind Mummy Island.”” According to
Gus Nelson this was Eskimo territory. Both the Eskimo,
Makari, and Galushia Nelson said that the Eyak used to
come here to dig clams, so that we cannot be sure which
people made the few objects found here. There is a small
midden, containing razor clam shells, horse clam shells,
and cockle shells. It is 75 feet (22.86 m.) long and 6 inches
(0.15 m.) thick, and extends from the cannery building on
the right to the nearest cabin on the left. In the midden is
a stump, the roots and lower part of which are covered by
the shells. This stump was burned during the period of
occupation, for the charred part is covered by midden

- deposit containing fire-cracked rocks. The site, therefore,

cannot be very old. In this midden was found: a green-
stone axe (roughly grooved after the fashion of the large
“splitting adzes,”” but with the blade at right angles to the
plane of these adzes), a planing adze blade, a slate “awl-
like”” weapon point, and two pieces of cut bone. On the
beach we found a stone man’s knife like an ulo(?). These
specimens are to be described in our monograph on The
Archaeology of Prince William Sound, 3 n
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Houses.

The Eyak house has been deseribed by several writers.
WRANGELL writes: ‘They live in huts built of beams (Bal-
ken). on the sides of which separate places are divided off
for each family, but in the middle a fire is made for all
together. Thus from two to six families are accustomed to
occupy in common a single shed.”! PETROFF states in the
Tenth Census: “Their houses are built of planks, and in
the Thlinket style of architecture, with circular openings in
front.”’2 In the Eleventh Census, he also writes: ““The houses
in these 2 settlements [Eyak and Alaganik] are constructed
altogether after the Thlingit model, large square structures,
built of huge logs and covered with bark, and set in a single
row along the shore, each with a platform in front, upon
which the inhabitants pass much of their leisure time in
summer.”’? Briefer descriptions of Eyak houses have been
mentioned above, under Territory and Villages.

The Eyak house, as described by Galushia Nelson, was
an unpainted rectangular structure, built of hemlock planks.
The ruins seen at Alaganik, roughly 25 by 30 feet (7.62 by
9.14 m.), and 22 by 23 feet (6.71 by 7.01 m.), he judged
to be of average size, though he said he had never seen one
with a doorway in the longer side. The door was square
and so low that one had to stoop to enter. The roof was
of gable construction. The central ridge pole running the
length of the house passed through the middle of the smoke-
hole. The framework of the roof was of poles, on which
were laid planks, not overlapping, but extending from the
ridge to the eaves. The whole was covered with bark. The

' WranceLL 1839, 97.
2 pgrrorr 1884, 146.
* Perrorr 1893, 65 f.
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‘walls were of planks set vertically into a grooved frame of
logs at the bottom and a corresponding frame at the top.
Galushia thinks there were posts in the four corners (sup-
porting the upper log frame?) and a post on each side of
the door. Some of these posts could be seen in the ruin
at Alaganik. He denies the existence of the front porch,

however, or of an entrance room or entrance passage.

Sometimes dirt was piled about the outside of the walls
to keep the planks from rattling. Inside, there was a central

- room, with dirt floor, in the middle of which a single(?)

fire was built, directly under the smokehole. There was no
fire pit, and no stones were set about the hearth. Along the
two sides and across the back were the sleeping rooms,
like boxes. They reached as high as the eaves, and were
not quite high enough to allow a man to stand upright.
They were ceiled, and floored(?) with planks. On top of
these sleeping rooms were kept the stores of dried meat
and fish, etc. Each sleeping room had a sliding door in the
middle of the front wall, as high as the roof of the room.
The door slid between the front wall of the room and stakes
driven into the ground at the bottom and a horizontal
beam at the top. The front door of the house was barred
at night and the doors of the sleeping rooms were also closed.
Each family occupied a single room in these communal
houses. The archaeological evidence would suggest that
these rooms were about 6 by 10 feet (1.8 by 3 m.). The
last community house was that of Chief Joe and his two
brothers. Each of the three families had its own room, but
these were box-like additions built on the outside, like the
bathrooms also used as sleeping rooms by the Prince
William Sound Eskimo and the Tnaina Athapaskans of
Cook Inlet. Joe’s house was,.not_parﬁtioned on the inside,

3
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as was the old Eyak style. Galushia thinks that in former

times a greater number of families may have shared a

single house, The place of honor, occupied by the head
of the house, was at the rear, opposite the front door.
A chief and his family occupied the central rear room,
and the space in front of it was where the chief sat, where

guests were entertained, and where a dead body was kept

during the wake. It was not considered impolite to walk
between a person and the fire, since all were accustomed
to sit around the sides of the house, leaning back against
their own sleeping rooms. Little children, slaves, and dogs
slept in the open space around the fire. Unmarried girls
probably slept with their parents, but Galushia is not sure.
Annie Nelson, his wife, was an orphan child adopted by
an Eyak family, and she slept among the dogs beside the
fire. (It is possible that only orphans had to sleep there.)
Strangers were accomodated with sleeping places along one
side of a special house in each village, In Tale 17, the two
daughters of Chief Calm Weather not only had separate
rooms, but lived in a house of their own,

There were also small houses for single families, and a
man could live either in a community house or in a private
house of his own, according to his choice.

The entire floor space in the sleeping room was covered
by the skin bedding, so that the clamshell lamp was set on
a shelf. A sloping board, long enough to accomodate all
the occupants of the room, was used as a pillow. (See
Tale 28.) Undecorated grass mats were hung on the walls
and laid on the floor under the bedding. The lamp was
never used in the main room, where the open fire wa_s‘
supposed to provide sufficient illumination.

' Clothing was dried on poles which ran across the house
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between the eaves. In war time, or when snow drifts blocked
the door, it was possible to climb out of the house through
the smokehole, by means of a rope attached to the ceniral
roof beam or a ladder (cf. ABERCROMBIE’s description
p- 40). Dead bodies were taken out through a gap made
in the wall, not through the smokehole. 4
Besides the single and communal dwelling houses there
were special houses for smoking fish. These were built
like ordinary houses, but lacked the separate sleeping rooms.
There was a fire in the middle of the floor, with smokehole
above. A lattice of poles was laid the entire length and
breadth of the house roughly at the height of the eaves.
There were actually two levels of racks, the upper a foot
higher than the lower. Fish to be smoked were placed first
on the lower rack, and when partly cured were moved to
the upper. Unfortunately we neglected to find out if there
were planks above the fire to spread the smoke. There were
smokehouses in the three main villages, Eyak, Alaganik,
and Old Town, for fish could be obtained near by. When
curing fish in these villages, the families probably continued
to occupy their regular houses. There were also special
fishing camps at Point Whitshed and on Mountain Slough.

" The smokehouses there were built like a lean-to, with a

shed roof, and a door in the higher end (side ?). These
sheds were made of poles covered by hemlock bark, and
served as dwelling houses for single families during the
fishing season, as well as smokehouses. There were a num-
ber of houses at Point Whitshed that were occupied in
October after the salmon runs were over, when the people
were drying clams, and some families mlght even stay

there the whole year (It is not clear from Galushla s descrip-
tion ‘whether these bark sheds. were Jocated only at the
3*
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two camps, or whether some of the smokehouses in the
main villages were of this type. Nor do we know if there
were any wooden smokehouses or ordinary dwelling houses at
Point Whitshed. Galushia saw these camps when he was a boy.)

In the main villages there were quite a few houses. The
central structure was the fort (see below), and near it were
the two moiety potlatch houses (see below). Dwelling houses
were located wherever anyone wanted to build. There was
no moiety segregation and no streets or other regular
arrangement. Each family had a residence at Eyak and at
Alaganik and moved back and forth at pleasure.! In Tale 24
distinet mention is made of a winter house and a summer
camp. We do not know how common it was for the family
to live in the regular house throughout the year or how large
a proportion of the people moved into the summer camps.

In each village were two potlatch houses, one for each
moiety. The potlatch house was built like the dwelling
house, except that above the lower set of wall planks there
was a second tier, set into the upper frame of logs and
capped by a third frame. Only the potlaich house was
built with these walls of double height. Inside was a single
fireplace under the smokehole. In his description of the
potlatch given by the Tlingit on Kayak Island, Galushia
mentioned windows, but we do not know if the Eyak pot-
latch house ever had windows, nor do we know if there
were any sleeping rooms, unless the sleeping quarters for
guests, mentioned above, were in one of the potlatch houses.
Outside at the front of the house was a post, the top of which
was carved to represent the moiety bird, Raven or Eagle.

1 pgrrorr 1893, 65: “Their situation affords these vn}ages uni{mfpcded
communication through sheltered inland channels, and taking nd\"antage
of this: cireumstance their people intermingle freely.”
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The head of the bird was above the door; sometimes the
post was higher than the house, sometimes not so high.
Galushia does not know if the bottom of the post was set
into the ground, but has a vague remembrance that entrance
to the house was through a hole in the post. As a child he
saw an Eagle post at Katalla. It was probably in front of
the potlatch house which his maternal (?) Tlingit uncle
built to accomodate the Eyak Eagles when they came to
potlatches. This house could accomodate 26 families.
Galushia later changed the figure to 16. At ordinary times
it is doubtful if any one slept in the potlatch house. There
were no totem poles in front of the dwelling houses.

All the Eyak potlaich houses had names. Thus the
Raven house at Alaganik was called the ““Goose House,”
and the Eagle house was the “Bed House.”” At Eyak, the
Raven house was the “Raven House,” and the Eagle house
the ‘“‘Skeleton House,” or more literally ““Old Dead Body's
House.”” At Gravina Bay there was a Raven house called
“The One We Burned Down on the Beach.” The Tlingit
group that were adopted by the Eyak Eagles were supposed
to have been in such a hurry to build their potlatch house
that they made it of bark, thus acquiring the name “‘Bark
House People.”” This tradition might indicate that the two
subgroups, Bark House People and Wolf People, in the
Eagle and Raven moieties respectively, may have had their
own potlatch houses, but that would be at variance with
Galushia’s express statement that there were only two in
each village, serving the two moieties as a whole, (For
the Eyak names of these houses, see the Vocabulary,
Appendix II.) . . .

These names for potlatch houses can all be duplicated
by the house names recorded by SwanNToN among the
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Tlingit,® with the exception of the ““Goose House.”” Thus
the *‘Raven house’ is used as the name of a house or house
group among the following Tlingit Raven clans: Ganaxa’'di
of Tongas and Taku, T&nedi (“‘bark house people) of
Henya, D&'citin of Hutsnuwu, and Euqga'xadi of Chilkat.
The Ka'gwantan, a widespread Raven clan, is called
“people of the burnt-down house,” and they have a house
of this name at Sitka. The Eyak ‘‘Skeleton House™" suggests
the “‘eagle’s-bones house’” of the Chilkat Ka'gwantan. This
is ““said by the Wrangell people to have been claimed only
in very recent times, the eagle not properly belonging to
them.” Eagle crest and names seem to have been taken
over by the Tlingit Wolf moiety from the Néxa'di of Sanya,
4 clan with Eagle names and crest, which stands outside
both the Wolf and Raven moieties. The Raven clan,
T!a'q!dentdan, at Huna has a “raven’s-bones house.” The
“Bed House" of the Eyak Eagles suggests the “sleeping house”
of the Llik!naxa’di at Sitka, but this was a Raven clan.
Among the Tlingit two Raven clans, the Té'nedi of Henya
and the Ti hit tan of Stikine, are both called “bark house
people’” and each have a house or house group of the name
“park house.” The Wolf clan, Ka'gwantan, of Chilkat had

a “wolf house.”
A house-warming potlatch was given when the potlatch

house was finished. We must note that there is no reference

to the potlatch house in any of the tales.
As already mentioned, Colonel ABERCROMBIE remembers
only two houses at Alaganik, besides the small house occupied

by the shaman and his two attendants. These two houses

he describes in some detail. Although 60 persons Were
actually living in each of these two houses at the time of

1 SwantTon 1908, 398 ff. Al
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his visit in 1884, the buildings differed in construction from
the communal dwelling house as described by our natives
informants. Moreover, the dances that he witnessed were
held in one of these houses. In his report he referred to
it as ‘a native hotel used for visiting and passing friendly
tribes. All entertainments are given in the casina.””! These
two houses, therefore, must have been the two potlatch
houses, even though, contrary to what Galushia led us to
understand, they were also serving as dwellings. It will be
remembered that both buildings were new when ABER-
cROMBIE saw them in 1884, and the style of architecture
showed Russian influence, as he suggests. It is possible
that the potlatch house was then undergoing a transformation
into a commqnal dwelling house, while the old style of
dwelling house was being abandoned. Or the chief and

some of the people may always have lived in the potlatch

house. On the other hand, this may have been a temporary
arrangement at Alaganik. In his report, ABERCROMBIE men-
tioned 7 houses at Alaganik. It is a pity that he did not
enter any of them, for his memory of their character might
help us to determine more accurately that of the two houses
that he did wvisit.

These two houses were rectangular, one-room buildings,
about 60 feet (18.3 m.) long and 20 feet (6.1 m.) wide,
with the door at one end. The walls were of horizontally
laid logs, dovetailed together, about six being used on the
sides to reach the eaves. Colonel ABERCROMBIE suggests
that the crude dovetailing may have been in imitation of
the Russian buildings at Nuchek. The central ridge pole
of the gable roof passed through the middle of the smoke-
hole, and two of the parallel beams (purlins) that helped

1 ABERCROMBIE 1900, 384. 1]
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to support the roof formed the lower edges of the smoke-
hole. The roof was of logs, sloping from the roof to the
eaves. Over these were laid strips of spruce bark, held
down by a layer of clay. The walls were about 6 feet (1.8 m.)
high, and the slope of the roof was only about 15°. The
center of the gable would have been, therefore, about
10 feet (3 m.) high. The walls were chinked with moss

\ . .
\ N _

Fig. 1. Smokehole and windscreen, as described by ABERCROMBIE.
and the women used to keep a round stone among their
tools to pound the moss back in when it came loose. To
protect the smokehole from the wind, there was a moveable
sereen which could be set up on either side. This screen
was made of several planks, pegged to two logs that hung
down over the roof of the house and by their weight pre-
vented the screen from being blown over. Two alder pegs,
about 20 inches (0.5 m.) long, projected from the inner side
of the screen at the bottom, and were hooked inside the
lower edge of the smokehole (Figure 1). There were no extra
boards to protect the ends of the smokehole. When the wind
shifted, some one would climb to the roof on a ladder, made
of a notched log, and move the screen to the opposite side.

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 41

The doorway of the house was almost square, and was
considerably wider than our doors. One had to step over
a log to enter, but did not need to stoop unless one stepped
on the log sill. The logs of the wall had been roughly hacked
off at the sides of the doorway with stone axes. The door
itself was of hewn planks, set horizbntally, and fastened

Fig. 2. Door of Eyak house, as described by ABERCROMBIE.

together by two vertical planks on the outside (Figure 2).
Each plank was nailed to these cross-planks by two wooden
pins on each side. A hole had been drilled through the
two planks, and after the wooden peg was inserted, both
ends of the peg were spread by means of small wedges
so that it could not work loose (Figure 3). The door was
hinged at the top by two strips of white whale(?) hide,
which were laced by rawhide thongs to holes in the door
and holes in the log above the doorway. ABERCROMBIE -
remembers no fastening for the door. There were no de-
corations outside the house and no carved post, but a large
eye, in red and black, was painted on the door.
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In the center of the house was the fireplace. This was
a depression in the dirt floor, about 4 or 5 feet (1.2 or 1.5 m.)
by 3 or 4 feet (0.9 or 1.2m.), filled with gravel to within
4 or 5 inches (10 or 12 cm.) of the floor level. The edges
of the pit were faced with a log frame.
Along the two sides of the house
Fig. 3. Wooden nail used and across the back was a continuous
for pegging together door. . ) hench, about as high as the

ete., as described by
ABERCROMBIE. counter of a store, and wide enough

<o that a man could lie extended across it. The bench
sloped down slightly towards the outer edge, along which
was fastened a pole against which the sleepers braced
their feet. Under the bench was a series of lockers with
sliding doors, each compartment belonging to the fa-
mily who sat and slept on the bench above. The lockers
were about 6 feet (1.8 m.) long and as deep as the bench
was wide (7 feet?). The door of the locker was about
95 inches (0.7 m.) wide, just big enough to admit a man,
and was as high as the bench. The door was always located
at the end of the locker nearest the front of the house and
slid between grooved logs at top and bottom. Each locker
had partitions separating it from those on either side. The
locker doors were carved and painted with what ABER-
cromBiE understood to be the family totems of the owners.
These designs were like those of the Tlingit, but were much
more crudely made, and he was not able to identify the
figures represented. In addition to these designs, each door
had a black and red eye painted on it. In the lockers were
kept the family’s belongings — bedding, food, tools, cloth-
ing, toys, and ceremonial paraphernalia. The lockers were
not used - as sleeping places. The chief or “headman
and his family occupied the entire bench at the rear of
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the house. His locker was more elaborately decorated than
the others. , ' Y :

The benches were used as beds at night and as seats
during the day. On them were spread mats made of reeds.
At night the natives slept on a mountain goat skin and
covered themselves with a homemade blanket of woven
goat’s hair (?). The blanket was only about a yard (0.9 m.)
wide and five feet (1.5 m.) long, so that when they pulled
it up over their heads and shoulders, their feet were un-
covered. The chief had a bear skin or two in addition.
The fire in the middle of the room served for cooking and
illumination. The house had no windows, and it was so
dark inside that one could read only under the smokehole.
A few people had seal-oil lamps, made of a hollowed
sandstone cobble. The wick was of twisted cotton from the
cottonwood tree, and was laid against the edge of the lamp.
These stone lamps were like those of the Eskimo at Nuchek,
but were less well made. ABERCROMBIE saw no lamps made of
clam shells such as the natives described to us. (Our Indian
informants, on the other hand, denied the use of stonelamps.)

In the center of the village, according to Galushia, stood
the fort or stockade, used as a refuge in time of war. It was
built of upright posts instead of planks, and because of its
construction was given the same name as the fish trap.
There was a single door. A space inside was excavated for
a depth of a few feet. Galushia does not know whether this
structure was roofed, or whether a house was built inside
the stockade. Food was stored in the fort. Once, when
people were besieged in a fort, their supply of water was
exhausted. A man ran to get some, but was shot down by
arrows. In Tale 16, the Sun's children build a fort when
they come down to earth: to attack the Alders. = =

S ————— e ———
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When men were on hunting trips, they usually camped
in the open. However, if they were to be out for a long
time, they might build a brush shelter or lean-to against a
cliff. Johnny Stevens said that hunters also made a dome-
shaped hut of branches, like that used by adolescent girls.
Hunters also camped sometimes under an overturned
canoe. No skin tent was used.

Gus Nelson's wife denied that a special hut was built
for menstruating girls. She said that they were secluded in
a sleeping room. Galushia, however, was sure that girls at
puberty were sent to a special hut, built of planks like an

ordinary house. Later, both he and Johnny Stevens described -

a conical hut, built like a tipi and covered with bark. Johnny
Stevens also mentioned a dome-shaped puberty hut, made
of arched branches, their ends stuck into the ground to form
a structure like an inverted basket. Galushia thought this
type was a late introduction.

We were told that the sweat bath was not originally an
Eyak institution but was borrowed from the Eskimo, before
the Russians came, according to Galushia. The bath is taken
in a small log hut, like those built by the Prince William
Sound Eskimo. Friends sometimes would take a bath
together to see who weakened first, but even now it has not
become very popular among the Eyak. Colonel ABER-
CROMBIE saw no sweat-bath houses at Alaganik in 1884,
and curiously enough, does not remember any at Nuchek,
though they were common in the Copper River Valley.

Caches were sometimes built for meat. These were plat-
forms set up on four poles, the edges of the platform pro-
jecting beyond the supports so that animals could not climb
up. There was no roof to the cache. A cache is mentioned
in Tale 2. Galushia knew of no pit caches to store meat in
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the ground. Caches were not used much, for the people
were in a hurry to get their meat home. The caches which
ABERCROMBIE remembers at Alaganik were more like those
used in the interior, and it is possible that he has confused
those of the two regions. He described them as little log
houses, about 6 feet square, set on top of 10-foot (3 m.)
posts. The house had a gable roof and was built of hori-
zontal logs. There was no projecting platform in front. The
doorway was square, just large enough to crawl through,
and lacked a door. The house rested on four blocks of
wood that capped the four posts. These blocks were about
15 inches (38 cm.) square, and were kept well oiled, which
made them so hard that no animal could climb them.

Though the Eyak built no permanent dwellings of bark
or brush, they tell about the Tree People, a tribe of cannibal
giants who live in the interior and who make houses of
boughs (Tale 20). -

. Boats. _

The Eyak formerly built wooden canoes. At present
these dugouts have been almost entirely abandoned in favor
of skiffs and gas boats, but in 1933 we found two which
we measured and photographed. One, partially completed
at that time, is the work of Gus Nelson, the other, an old
cracked boat, belongs to Old Man Dude. Gus Nelson’s boat
(Plate 9,1) more closely follows the traditional pattern than
does Dude’s. It measures 16 feet 4 inches (4.98 m.) in length
at the gunwalé', and 15 feet 6 inches (4.72 m.) at the keel,
the extra 10 inches (26 cmi.) representing the overhang of
the stern. The beam is 2 feet 10 inches (86 cm.), and the
stern and bow both stand 2 feet 4 inches (71 cm.) high. The
stern is simply curved under, but the prow is undercut in
a V for a depth of 9 inches (22 em.), leaving both the gun-
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wale and keel projecting. Galushia explained that this was
to make the boat easier to stear. The boat was round-
bottomed in the middle, only at bow and .stern was it
narrowed to produce a false keel. Since it was unfinished,
we were unable to see what arrangements Gus may have
been planning for thwarts. The canoe was being shaped
with an adze, and was kept covered with a piece of canvas
to prevent it from cracking in the sun. _

Old Man Dude’s canoe (Plate 5,4) measures roughly
17 feet (5.02 m.) in length, the inside length being 15 feet
7 inches (4.85 m.). The beam is 2 feet 11 inches (89 cm),
the height of the stern is 1 foot (30 cm.), that of the prow
1 foot 6 inches (46 cm.), but this was not the original height,
since the gunwales are broken. As the canoe stands now,
the profile of the bow and stern is like that of the Eskimo
dugouts found in Palutat Cave in Prince William Sound.
The projecting keel at the prow has recently been hacked
off. but even in its original condition this canoe must have
lacked the graceful shape of Gus Nelson’s boat. Now the
wood has sprung apart and the cracks have been mended
with tin. The whole surface is painted. In the angle of the
prow is a wooden handle like that found at Alaganik in
1930. The sides of the canoe have been forced apart to
permit the insertion of the sharpened ends of the handle
into slots. When the canoe was allowed to spring back into
shape, the tension of the wood held the handle firmly in
place. The specimen -from Alaganik (P-UM 30-25-99d,
Plate 11, 7) is a naturally curved section of alder(?). flat on
one side, and sharpened to a wedge at both ends. It is
21 em. long and 3 cm. wide. In the middle of Dude’s canoe,
just under the gunwales, are cleats to hold a seat or thwart,
7 inches (18 em.)wide. There was perhaps another thwart
about 3 feet (92 cm.) from the stern. ; ;
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. There were no taboos connected with canoe-building,
Galushia explained, and any man could make on. Fire
may have been used in felling the tree. To hollow it out,
two or three fires were built along the middle, and were
kept pushed back from the edges with a stick. Afterwards
the charred wood was adzed out. The sides were forced
out after boiling water in the canoe by means of hot rocks.
The sides of the larger canoe (of the small canoes also?)
were kept in position by three thwarts. In the forward
thwart of the large canoe was a hole to step the mast. The
sail was square; one side was fastened to the mast, and

. the outer peak was held up by a diagenal boom. When

not in use canoes had: to be kept out of the sun to prevent
their cracking. They were painted black with charcoal
mixed with oil: When traveling on lakes they were loaded
to leave a 6-inch (15 cm.) freeboard, but lighter loads were
carried on salt water. ¥ :  aie

The largest canoes carried 10 persons (Mrs. Gus N elson)
or 16 (Galushia). Old Man Dude mentioned a canoe with
50 occupants in Tale 14 B, but this is certainly an exaggera-
tion. In the large canoes the occupants sat on thwarts. In
the small canoes they sat on wooden stools, which they
straddled in a half kneeling position. The stool was shaped
like an overturned box, open at both ends, and was cut
from a single block of wood. Some of the small canoes
carried 4 persons (Mrs. Gus Nelson). If a man was paddling
alone, he sat in the middle of the canoe. He -Ami’ght paddle
only on one side, steering the canoe by a transverse motion
at the end of the stroke. The canoe was always paddled
by men unless the party was small and the man sick
(Galushia). Thus in Tale 14A one old man takes three
women in a canoe to pick berries. Slaves helped to paddle.
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Mrs. Gus Nelson, however, said that both men and women
paddled. She showed me a photograph of her mother and
a man in a canoe at Alaganik. They were both paddling
on the same side. It was customary, she explained, for all
to paddle three strokes on one side, then shift simultaneously
to the other. This is the Eskimo method of paddling the
three-man baidarka. According to Galushia, when a large
party traveled there was a special pilot who sat next the
steersman in the stern but did not himself paddle or steer.
Johnny Stevens said that the shaman never paddled when
he was with a party.

In conversation Colonel ABERCROMBIE adds the following
information: The small canoes usually carried two occu-
pants, but might hold four; the large canoes carried six or
eight persons. He is full of admiration for the small canoe,
but says that the larger boat was not nearly so well designed.
Not only was it without the graceful lines of the smaller
craft, but lacked the projecting keel in the bow. On the
smaller canoe this keel acted like a drift rudder and made
the boat easy to handle in swift water, and prevented it
from broaching in rough seas. The boats at Alaganik were
made of yellow cedar, which ABERCROMBIE suggests may
have been obtained in trade from the Eskimo near Valdez,
where he observed a stand of yellow cedar. Canoes were
shaped with a large stone adze. The inside was filled with
water, which was heated with hot stones, so that the sides
could be forced out. The thwarts were then inserted, two
for the small canoe, three for the large. These thwarts were
small poles, about 21/, inches (6 cm.) in diameter, and were
lashed on just below the gunwale by a thong which passed
through a horizontal hole in the thwart and two holes in
the side of the canoe. The sides of the canoe bulged from
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the bow and stern to these thwarts and then ran straight
between them. The model made -at Alaganik in 1884, and
generously given by Colonel ABErcrROMBIE to the University
Museum, was made to scale and reflects accurately the shape
of the smaller canoes (Plate 11, 8). The two paddlers in the
small canoe sat on two stools, just behind the thwarts. These
stools were made of a hollow section of log, about 2 feet
(61 cm.) long, 9 inches (23 cm.) high, and 6 inches (15 cm.)
wide. On a hunting trip the arrows were laid under the
stool. Any load was always placed in the center of the boat.
In the large canoe the paddlers did not sit on thwarts or
stools, but squatted, side by side, a pair behind each thwart.
Colonel ABERCROMBIE saw no mast or sail. The steersman
sat on a small triangular wooden seat, lashed into the angle
of the stern. ABERCROMBIE noticed no prow handles, but
remembers that the natives used to take hold of the thwarts
when drawing the canoe up on the beach. None of the canoes
were carved or decorated, but some (Long Jim’s, for
example) were painted black outside. When not in use, the
canoes were drawn up on the bank and were covered with
grass, skins, or brush to prevent them from cracking'.
According to Galushia, the paddle had a crutch handle
and a longer and more pointed blade then the Eskimo
paddle. A broken paddle was found at Old Man Dude’s
house (P-UM 33-29-2, Plate 12,1). The blade had been broken
! In this connection it may be of interest to cite GRIM\ELLS descrip-
tion of the small Yakutat canoes: “They are light,” and until one has
become accustomed to them, seem very cranky and likely to tip over.
The shape of the cutwater is peculiar, for under the prow the wood is
cut away backward, and beneath this again projects forward _]ust above
the water’s level, with the result that this projecting point of wood first
strikes and pushes away the ice cakes which so thickly float upon thc

water’s surface, and prevents them from chaﬁng the bows of the canoe.’
(GrixseLL 1902, 162 ). :
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off and the handle was reshaped for an axe. The total
length of the paddle must have been about 175 em. The
blade is about 80 em. long and 11 em. wide, pointed at the
tip, with the greatest width in the middle. The blade widens
more evenly into the handle than on Eskimo specimens
from Prince William Sound. The handle is oval in section,
3.5 by 3 cm.,with the greater diameter in the plane of the
blade. The end is carved to a crutch-shaped grip, 6 cm.
wide. The paddle is unpainted. The Eyak never used a
double-bladed paddle. The canoe was steered with the
paddle, and for large canoes special steering paddles with
long handles were used.

According to Colonel ABERCROMBIE, the paddle had a
pointed blade, the widest part being near the handle. The
handle was carved with a crutch-shaped grip. The blade
was thicker in the middle than at the edges, but lacked a
prominent ridge. When in use, the paddle was slid along
the gunwale, and the handle was eventually worn through
by the friction. The blade was painted, but the only feature
of the decoration which ABERCROMBIE can remember was
the large eye which appeared on all the paddles. Like the
eye on the doors of the house and lockers, it had a black
pupil and a red and black outline. Other symbols were
painted above and below it.

In his written report, ABERCROMBIE makes the following
observations about the Eyak and their small canoes. “They
are not hunters, and use their canoes as a means of trans-
portation entirely. These are made out of trees hollowed out,
and are beautiful models. The boats are about 18 feet long,
have a 3-foot beam, and are handled with great dexterity
in the sloughs and even in quite rough water. The Indians
never ascend the river [Copper River] more than 8 or 10
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miles as their boats are easily cracked, and in the terrific
swash of rapids they would stand a poor show.”! “*Situated
as they are without trails, the water is their highway and
the canoe the universal means of transportation. They own
no large canoes. Those in common use are 15 feet in length,
18 inches beam when spread, round bottomed, sharp at
stem and stern, and weigh from 80 to 125 pounds. They
will carry two natives or, upon an emergency, three, with
their supplies for a week. In experienced hands they will
ride out in safety a considerable sea, provided it is not
breaking, and in open water, where rocks, brush, floating
logs, or ice do not endanger them, are exceedingly service-
able. For river work they are not so satisfactory,A as in
addition to readily capsizing they are easily split by a blow.
Much care has to be taken, also, that when not actually in
use they are kept constantly moist in the shade. They are
valued at from $4 to $6, and every native owns one or more.
Even the children are expert in their management.”’? In
Plate 10 we reproduce enlargements of photographs of Eyak
canoes, taken by ABERCROMBIE in 1884.

ALLEN also published pictures of Eyak canoes, some of
them drawings made from ABERCROMBIE’s photographs.
ALLEN and another man and four Eyaks traveled in one
“small canoe.” He speaks of meeting “‘a canoe with a small
piece of cotton cloth for sail.”” The Eyak canoes “draw only
a few inches of water, and along the flats when the tide is
low are propelled by using the paddle as apole.”*WRANGELL
says only that they are similar to those of the Tlingit.*

1 ABERCROMBIE 1900, 384 f.
2 ABERCROMBIE 1900, 398.
3 ALLEN 1887, 36 f.

4 WraNGELL 1839. 97.
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PerroFF more specifically states: “The Thlingit wooden
canoe forms their principal means of transportation. Of
these craft two kinds are in use among the Ugalentz [Eyak],
the large traveling canoe with prominent uprising prow,
resembling in shape those of the Yakutat tribe, from which
they are frequently purchased, and the smaller hunting or
ﬁs};ing canoe. also of wood, easily propelled by one man
and of exceedingly graceful shape, with a ram-like pro-
tuberance at the bow, which they claim facilitates the ascent
of rapid streams.’”*

The natives made no statement to us about the use of
the kayak. ABERCROMBIE writes, however: ‘“The bidarka in
such general use to the westward is not used to any extent
by the Eyaks.”? In 1890 PETROFF wrote: “To a limited
e;(tellt the Ugalentz Thlingit [Eyak] also make use of the
kayak, or Eskimo canoe, but this is done only for the
purpose of sea-otter hunting, and the canoes are purchased
from their Eskimo neighbors. A few of these canoes can
also be found among the Yaklags or Chilkahts living along
the shores of Controller bay, and even among their fellow
tribesmen beyond Cape Suckling. Here also, however, the
use of the kayak is confined to the pursuit of the sea otter.”"?
In 1880 he wrote: “Even the manufacture of the kaiak has
been abandoned and is now forgotten by the hybrid tribe.”*
PETROFF's statements are colored by his assumption that
the Evak were originally an Eskimo group who became
absorbed by the Tlingit. There seems no warrant, however,
to suppose that the Eyak ever made kayaks. Their limited

! perrorr 1893, 66.

* ApercromBie 1900, 398.
3 prrrorr 1893, 66.

4 perrovr 1884, 146.
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use of the kayak in historie times we must ascribe to Russian
influence, since whatever its disadvantage as a means of
travel for long distances or in dangerous waters,! there is
no doubt that the kayak or baidarka was better adapted than
the dugout for sea-otter hunting in the open sea.? It is
significant that Galushia did not mention the kayak at all,
even when deseribing sea-otter hunting. According to our
native informants, the small canoe was used for sea-otter
hunting, for fishing, and for hunting seals on the river.
In 1884 ABERCROMBIE saw about 15 or 20 baidarkas at
Alaganik. He suggests that they may have been made by a
renegade Eskimo living among the Eyak. These boats had two
or three manholes. At that time there were no one-hole kayaks
in use, even at Nuchek. He does not think that the Eyak
used baidarkas for anything except sea-otter hunting, and that
they did not dare to hunt sea-otter unless invited by their Eski-
mo neighbors. The baidarkas at Alaganik were exactly like
those at Nuchek, with sinew cords across the deck under
which were thrust the spears and club. When not in use the
baidarkas, with hunting gear in place on the decks, were
kept on top of racks. The paddles were put inside the man-
holes to protect them from the sun. At frequent intervals the
owner would oil his boat to keep the seal skin in good con-
dition. Oil for this purpose was carried in a small skin bag.
The dugout was used as a vessel in boiling out eulachon
oil (Johnny Stevens).
For canoe races the Eyak formerly built special canoes,
longer, lighter, and more slender than ordinary canoes.
Special canoes were buile for war. These had a carved
prow, representing either the Raven’s or the Eagle’s head.

1 pgrrorFr 1882, 569, 571.
2 BANCROFT 1886, 347.

.
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The people worked together when making a war canoe and
it was owned by the whole tribe. (Does Galushia mean by
the moiety?) They carried 16(?) persons. In Tale 25, mention
is made of a man whose sole duty was to bail out the war
canoe. We do not know if every war canoe carried such
2 man. The bailer was a spruce-root basket. No wooden
bailers or wooden tubes for sucking up water were used.

Galushia also says that for war the Eyak sometimes used
a sealskin or goatskin boat, built like an Eskimo umiak.
The frame was of wood, with gunwales, keel, and frames.
There were only a few ribs, and these were made in two
pieces, one for each side, fastened at the bottom to the keel.
The keel was curved, making both the bow and stern turn
up. The gunwales were heavier than the other frames, and
were tied together at the bow, so that there were no pro-
jecting horns as on Eskimo umiaks. The bottom was
rounded. All the parts of the framework were lashed
together, and no pegs were used. As a boy, Galushia saw
such a sealskin boat at Alaganik. The owner would not let
anyone touch it. ABERCROMBIE also saw a sealskin umiak,
and it may even be the same boat. When his native crew
deserted him on the Copper River, Long Jim went back to
Alaganik to get them. They returned in an umiak, similar
to those at Nuchek. This boat is illustrated in Plate 10, 2.

The Wolf People, a fabulous cannibal tribe, are supposed
to make bark canoes (Tale 19), but the Eyak never made
them. The canoe of the Land-Otters is a live skate and their
paddles are live mink (Tale 12). Mention is made of a people
who own a self-paddling canoe of seal skin (Raven, incident
92), and in another story (Tale 17) a self-paddling canoe is
mentioned. The canoes of the Blackfish can dive (Tale 9).
Travel by canoe is frequently mentioned in the stories.

I —
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Sleds.

Johnny Stevens asserted that the Eyak used a sled with
upturned ends (Kutchin type). These stood a foot high, and

were made of pieces lashed together. The runners were of.

wood, without bone shoeing. Dogs were hitched tandem to
the sleds, and this form of transportation was used both
for travel and for bringing home game. ;

It can be accepted without question, however, that the
Eyak did not use dogs for dragging their sleds. Dog traction
and the tandem style of hitching were introduced by the
Americans, and since the terrain is ill adapted for sledding,
it is doubtful if the Eyak ever made much use of this
method of transportation.

Whether or not the original Eyak sled was of Kutchin
type is less easy to determine. Galushia does not mention
this kind, but describes two other types of sled. The first
was a very crude contrivance, made only for dragging home
across the ice loads of fish that were too heavy to carry.
The sled was pointed, since it was made of a forked branch,
across which were set cross-bars, morticed into the branches
without lashings. The number of cross-bars depended on
the length of the sled. Boughs were laid on top. For bringing
home game a Yukon type sled was used, but Galushia was
not sure if it was indigenous. This sled had runners made
of two naturally curved branches. Galushia thought that it
was of necessity only a temporary contrivance, because he
believed that the friction on the snow would soon wear outthe
unprotected wooden runners. He also explained that a sled
was never taken from the village with the hunting party, but
was only fetched after they had killed game. To make or take
along a sled in advance would spoil the hunters’ luck.

No mention is made of sleds in the tales.
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Snowshoes.

Snowshoe frames were made from small spruce trees.
The frame was of two pieces, lashed together, with pointed
heel, and rounded, spliced, upturned toe. The bent-up toe
was held in position by a Y-shaped lashing, the two ends
of the Y being fastened to the toe, and the bottom of the
Y running back to the first cross-bar. There were three
cross-bars, the last two being close to the heel. The forward
and rear spaces were left open, but a webbing of seal thong
was laced between the two first cross-bars, where the foot
rested. The webbing was run through horizontal holes
drilled in the frame, and ran back and forth in a simple
rectangular weave, leaving an open space for the toe of the
foot. Men made both the frame and the webbing. No netting
needle was used. The Copper River Indians used sinew for
webbing, but the Eyak never did.

A pair of snowshoes owned by Gus Nelson (Plate 7, 2)
departs somewhat from the traditional pattern described by
his brother.The length is 125.7 em., the distance from the toe
to the first cross-bar is 34 cm., and thedistance between the first
and second cross-bars is 36 cm. The maximum width of
93 cm. is at the first bar; the width at the second is 18.7 cm.
The toe is turned up for a height of 10 cm. The arrange-
ment of webbing and strings can be seen in the photograph.

When setting snares wooden snowshoes were worn to
prevent the hunter from leaving his scent. These wooden
shoes were used only for this purpose. While Galushia was
unable to give us any detailed description of them, we can
assume that they were roughly shaped like the netted snow-
shoes since Galushia called them “wooden snowshoes.”

and denied that they were skis.
Snowshoes are mentioned only in Tale 2.
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Dogs.

The Eyak dogs were about the same size as the Eskimo
“husky.” They had pointed prick ears, bushy tails, and
looked something like police dogs. According to Galushia,
they were used only for hunting. They were never harnessed
to a sled and were never used to carry packs. He tells how
shocked he was at first seeing dogs used as pack animals,
Some Copper River Indians had come down to trade at
Orca Cannery, near Cordova. They loaded their dogs each
with two one-hundred pound sacks of flour, so that the poor
animals could hardly walk. Eyak dogs were trained to hunt
and were never kept as pets. It would spoil a dog’s luck to

- play with him (see Tale 24). The natives always took a

dog when hunting. He was kept on a leash until the hunter
was ready to let him go. Galushia does not know what
kind of a dog collar was used. Dogs were also trained to
stay behind the hunters. Dogs chased mountain goats and
held them until the hunter came. They also smelled out
bears’ dens (Tale 6B). '
Each dog had a name. The owner gave him whatever
name he fancied, but it was always a dog’s name and it
was usually the name of a dead dog, just as a child was
always named after a dead relative. Some dog names had
a meaning, such as “Would always bring game to the
fire. It was stated that they never had rabies before the
introduction of white men’s dogs. Animal bones were
usually given to dogs, since there was no taboo against it.

~ A dog was never killed, either when the owner died or at

any other time, because it was bad luck to do so. There
was no objection to touching a dead dog, however. '
Johnny Stevens, in describing what we have identified
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as the American innovation of dog driving, said that the
animals were hitched tandem and wore ordinary collars,
The dog whip was made of one long tapering thong, or of
several thongs fastened together, attached to a wooden handle.
The whip was about five feet long and had a knot at the end
of the lash. Galushia is not certain whether the dog whip
was used formerly.

We were not able to learn anything definite about the
inheritance of dogs. When Galushia’s mother died, her dogs
went to her daughter. This would indicate that a woman
might own dogs, which seems curious since they were used
only for hunting. Probably it was the husband of the
nominal owner, in such a case, who actually used the dogs.

The use of the dog skin by the witch will be discussed
later (p. 207).

Colonel ABErRcrROMBIE was surprised to see only a few
dogs at Alaganik. He thought that perhaps the people had
eaten them in a time of famine. :

Personal Adornment.

Men wore their hair parted in the middle and tied into
a bunch on each side. It fell to their necks (Johnny Stevens).
Most men wore their hair long and greased it with seal oil.
They put eagle down on it at potlatches(?). They did not
wear a headband except at a potlatch, and at the mourning
feast for slain warriors feathers were stuck in the band
(Galushia). Shamans wore their hair combed back and
fastened behind with a double-pronged pin. Their hair fell
to their shoulders (Johnny Stevens). Men wore a mustache
but no beard.

Colonel Asercromsie describes the haircut of the men
as a “Dutch bob,” reaching to the nape of the neck behind,
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with bangs across the forehead.;{:li,’the shaman, wore his
hair parted in the middle, falling loose to his shoulders,
except for a front lock on each side which was threaded
through a copper ring. This drew the hair forward to expose
the ears (Figure 4). :

At the dances which ABERCROMBIE saw, all the male
performers wore headbands, or rather
crowns of wood, about 3 inches
(7.6 cm.) wide, covered with skin.
They were decorated with glass and
obsidian beads, stitched to the skin.
The latter were obtained from the
interior, he thinks, because he saw
similar obsidian beads among the
Copper River Indians. There were no
shell beads at Alaganik. The beads

were sewn to the crown to form a

Fig. 4. Kai, the shaman,
as described by ABER-
of the men had beads only in front, crowsis.The dotted areas

but Kai, the shaman, had beads all °* theface fe‘t”esent zed
paint.

row of diamond-shaped figures. Most

the way around. There were holes in
the upper edge of the crown into which feathers were set (Fig-
ure 5). The feathers seemed to be replaceable, for at the end
of the dance they would be badly mussed, and yet the men
would appear for the next dance with fresh feathers. These
crowns were like the headbands worn by the Copper
River Indians at Taral, though the latter lacked feathers.

According to Galushia, women and girls wore their hair
in one braid down the back, tied at the end with a thong,
and were very proud of its length. They wore a headband
(material?). In Tale 5, the tail of the animal becomes her
headband when she assumes human shape. In Tale 28,
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the girl asks her mother to fix her hair so that she will not
be mistaken for a slave, thus implying that slave women
wore their hair in-a different style from other women,
though we have no information about that style. Colonel
ABERCROMBIE says that the Eyak women wore their hair
in two braids, generally hanging down over the breast,
less often down the back. At the dances, some of the wealthier
women threaded dentalium shells
on their hair to decorate their
braids, but Galushia knew no-
thing about women’s hair orna-
ments.

It is not certain if the comb
was formerly used by the Eyak.
Galushia denied that they knew
either the comb or the porcu-

Fig. 5. Wooden crown with

feathers, worn at dances, as . . : .
described by ABERCROMBIE. The pine-tail hairbrush in old days.

wooden frame is covered with In Tale 5, however, the old
skin and beadwork.

woman chides the hunter: ““You

eat, too, while your women are combing their hair.”In inci-
dent 23 of the Raven cycle, Raven had a magic comb that
would bring back the color to white hair and restore youth.
Both sexes painted the face, though we do not know if
this was done daily or only for special occasions. The
moieties had their own patterns(?). The designs were
straight lines(?). Later, Galushia said that at potlatches a
diamond-shaped figure was painted on the cheek, though

he did not known who wore this pattern. Diamond-shaped
figures used in basketry are called ‘“‘face painting.’’ Before
going to fight, the warriors painted their faces black and red.

From what Colonel ABERCROMBIE relates, it would seem
that face paint was used only for dance. Thus, the women
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of the chorus had their faces painted black and red,! and
some of the wealthier people in the audience were painted.
All of the performers were masked, except Kai, the shaman,
whose face was painted.® Kai was not painted all the:time,
but appeared in paint to greet ABERCROMBIE when he landed
at Alaganik, and was painted for the dances which were
held every afternoon during the week of ABERCROMBIE'S
stay. Kai had two black stripes across his forehead, a red
stripe across his eyes, two black stripes across his cheeks
(the last three interrupted at the nose), a red stripe across
his mouth, and two black stripes across his chin. These
lines were all horizontal (Figure 4). The red paint was a
much brighter color that the stain used for wood. “Kai
looked like a devil.”

Both sexes (or only women?) tattooed the wrist. The
tattooing was in one or more (?) lines around the wrist,
like a bracelet. A hole was made under the skin with an
awl, and a thread stained with blueberry juice or with
charcoal mixed with grease was drawn through. Galushia
thought that tattooing was also done by pricking. No food
taboos were associated with tattooing. It is still practiced,
but Galushia knows of no reason for this type of decoration.
Women also burned their wrists with a glowing stick. This
was to accustom themselves to pain, so- that if they were
speared in time of war they would not cry out. ABERCROM-
BIE does not remember such scars or tattooing.

Both men and women wore ear ornaments. Galushia’s

! Compare with the statement in his report (p. 385) that the seven
women who sang had their “faces painted red and black and hair and
persons ornamented with swan’s-down [eagle down?]”.

® At the same performance the “dancer” (actually the shaman w.ho.
did not dance, but told the story) was a “srotesquely arrayed native
with painted face”. (ABercroMBIE 1900, 398).
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ears were pierced when he was such a small child that he
does not remember the occasion. He does not think that
any ceremonies were connected with making holes in the
ears or in the septum of the nose. Captain JacoBseN, who
visited the Eyak in 1883, makes the following statement:
“As soon as a child is born, the septum of the nose and
both ears are pierced, and rings are put through the holes
without further ceremony.”’!

While beads, animal teeth, especially seal teeth, and
seal whiskers were used as ornaments, we are not sure
just what was worn in the ears. The natives say that only
the chief and his family wore earrings and headdresses of
dentalium shells, and these only on special occasions. The
chief wore strings of dentalium shells hanging from his
ears. Galushia knows of no type of men’s ornaments that
were forbidden to women. He says that women alone wore
nose ornaments. He has seen many women with nose rings
made of roots or bone, but never a man or a little girl.
Neither sex wore labrets. The chief’s family wore necklaces
of beaver teeth or seal teeth. In Tale 4B, the Salmon Boy
is wearing his sister’s necklace.

Colonel ABERCROMBIE remembers no ornaments except
copper finger rings. These, like Kai’s hair rings, were made
of a thin band, bent around to overlap. These rings were
worn by both men and women, chiefly on the fourth finger
of the right hand. The rings were probably obtained from
the interior, for the Copper River Indians wore similar rings.
Long Jim, an exiled Indian from Taral, had a number of
rings, which he was always trading off. He wore them on
the ring finger of his right hand, and they flashed in the sun

when he was spearing salmon.

1 JacoBsex 1884, 394.

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 63

There was no pulling out or filing off of teeth, though
there were rules for the disposal of teeth, nail parings, etc.
Baby Feeth were put outside a mouse hole so that the mouse
would bring new teeth in exchange. Nail pairings had to be
buried outside, all in one place, ““so that they might be found
again if necessary.” Hair combings were burned. Mention
will be made below of the fear that hair, nail parings, or
scraps of clothing might fall into the possession of witches.
There was no rigid rule for the disposal of spittal. Galushia,
who was tubercular, was careful to spit into a piece of paper
which he carefully burned, but he had evidently been
advised by a doctor to do this for the protection of his
family.

JacoBsEN mentions that the natives wore amulets of
bone and stone hanging from their necks. These objects
were evidently highly prized, for he was unable to buy a
single specimen.! ABERCROMBIE does not remember any
amulets, except those which Kai wore in a small skin bag
hung around his neck. These were sharks’ teeth, claws,
animal bones, and similar objects.

ABERCROMBIE says that the Eyak were very dirty and
were covered with lice. They ate so much fish that when
they sweated they had a fishy smell. They smeared their
bodies with seal oil to prevent their skins from chapping
in the wind. When scratched by bushes, their skin would
be scratched white, but would not be cut. They were able
to sit in the cold rain without apparent signs of discomfort.
They were much tougher than the Nuchek Eskimo.

Galushia thinks that before the sweat bath was adopted
the only method of taking a bath was to jump in the river,
and he doubts if the women did this very often.

1 JacossEN 1884, 387.




s - T

_

L anbad v
VT

f-.m“%_—; =3

64 Kas BIRKET-SMITH and FREDERICA DE LAGUNA:

Clothing.

The dress of both men and women consisted of shirt,
trousers, and boots (Tales 3, 6B, 17, 18).

The shirt was a pull-over frock, slit far enough. down
the front to admit the head. The woman'’s shirt reached the
knees, but there is some uncertainty -about the length of
the man’s. Mrs. Gus Nelson said that it reached only to
the waist. Galushia says that some men’s shirts reached the
knees (the winter shirt?), while some merely covered the
hips. They were cut evenly around the bottom. RicHARDSON
writes: “The shirts of the Ugalents reach to the knee or
lower, and are cut evenly round without peaks.”’! The shirt
was made in two pieces, back and front, seamed at the
sides. The sleeves were separate pieces, sewed up on the
outside of the arm. The shirts of the chiefs and their families
were decorated along this seam with a fringe, which may
have been part of the material of the sleeve, or a separate
piece sewn on (Galushia is not certain). There were also
fringes along the other seams, but these were not made of
separate pieces. Animal teeth and undyed porcupine quills
were somelimes sewn to the seams. In summer, and in
winter when in the house, only an inner shirt was worn.
This had the hair turned next the body, and lacked a hood.
This shirt seems to have been made of seal skin; at least
we have explicit information to that effect regarding the
man’s shirt. The outer shirt worn in winter had a hood
attached, and was of eagle or swan skins from which the
large feathers had been plucked to leave the down. Makari,
our Eskimo informant, said that the Eyak were so poor

1 RicHarpsoN 1851, I 404. Since this writer confused the Eyak with
the Prince William Sound Eskimo, it is hazardous to place muchAreh-
ance on his statements. ' '
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that they dressed only in eagle skins. There were no moiety
or social restrictions limiting the use of eagle skins. It was
stated that when the shirt was made of bird skins er the
skins of small animals, the separate pelts were first sewn
together to make a large piece, which was afterwards cut
down to fit the pattern. It does not seem improbable, how-
ever, that the skins were sewn together in long strips which
were joined horizontally to make the shirt; this would be
in accordance, at least, with the Eskimo pattern. Only the
chiefs and their families wore shirts of weasel (ermine)
skins. In Tale 6A, the woman is wearing a shirt made of
groundhog skins, with the tails hanging down for decoration.
Sea-otter skins were worn only by the chief and his family.
Mountain goat skins were worn principally by women,
seal skins by the men. The daughter of Chief Calm Weather
(Tale 17) had dentalium shells at the hem of her skirt.
While the hood of the winter frock was sewn to it, a
separate hood was worn with the inner or summer shirt.
This was made of two pieces of skin, sewn together up the
middle of the head. These separate hoods were of two
kinds. One was really a cap, reaching only to the neck.
It is not certain if it was tied under the chin. The other was
a true hood, fitting around the face, and seamed under the
chin. It was without a peak and had no fringe around the
face. The hood attached to the winter shirt was of this type,
except that it fitted more closely about the face. Hoods worn
by the chiefs were decorated across the front. In winter
a piece of fur was worn across the nose. It might be detach-
able or be sewn to the hood.
~ Colonel ABERCROMBIE visited Alaganik in June and
again in October. He noticed no difference in the clothing
worn by the natives at these two seasons. The women were
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dressed only in a shirt that reached to the knees. The gar-
ment was pulled on over the head and lacked a hood. The
sleeves reached only to the elbows. They wore no other
clothes. The shirts of the ordinary women were of depilated
seal skin: the wealthier women dressed in mink. When
traveling or working around the village, the men wore
jackets reaching to the middle of the thighs. For lounging,
they put on instead a similar shirt which reached just below
the knees, so that when they squatted the hem touched
the ground and kept their feet warm. The sleeves were
long and loose, and they used to warm their hands by
folding their arms and tucking their hands into the opposite
sleeve. All of the men’s shirts lacked hoods. The longer
shirts were made of duck skins with the feathers turned
outside, or of fur seal with the fur outside. There were also
some of groundsquirrel skins like those worn by the Copper
River Indians at Taral. These were traded from the interior,
ABERCROMBIE believes, because he doubts if there were
any groundsquirrels on the coast. T he skins had been taken
off whole, so that the coat had the fur both on the outside
and on the inside. The little tails hung down outside. The
jackets were all cut straight around the bottom and lacked
the points of the Copper River jackets.

It is uncertain if the Eyak wore hats. Neither the wooden
helmet nor basketry hat was recognized. Galushia’'s state-
ments are somewhat confused since he says that dentalium
shells were attached to the hats of the chiefs and their
families. He spoke of a cap, however, (the short, separate
hood, mentioned above?), which had a small peak to shed
the rain. He does not think that the Eyak wore wooden
eyeshades or snow goggles of any kind. ABERCROMBIE Saw
no hats or headcovering at Alaganik, except the head-
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dresses worn on special occasions which we have already
described.

In rainy weather shirts of bear intestines were worn
(over the inner shirt?). The strips of gut were sewn in hori-
zontal bands. This shirt lacked a hood(?). ABERCROMBIE
said that the men wore waterproof shirts of seal intestines,
with a hood which could be fastened tightly about the face
with a drawstring.

Both sexes wore trousers of seal skin. Those of the women
had the same cut as the men’s except that they were looser.
They were seamed down the inside and outside of the legs,
(and were made in two pieces?). Mrs. Gus Nelson says that
they were drawn up about the waist by a cord running in
a hem at the top. They were not embroidered. It is not
clear whether two pairs were worn in winter, and often
none were worn in summer. Since the women’s summer
boots were short, there was a strip of bare skin between the
top of the bool and the hem of the shirt (Mrs. Gus Nelson).
Galushia believes that the men wore an ordinary aprom,
somewhat similar to that worn in war (see below), but he
was unable to give any definite information about it.
Curiously enough, no mention was made of a woman’s
apron or genital covering.

ABERCROMBIE says that the men wore trousers of depilated
seal skin which came to the knee. Their sealskin boots,
which they wore only for traveling and hunting, came fto
just below the knee, so that there was a gap between the
trousers and boots. Around the village neither men nor
women wore boots, and the children were even running
barefooted in the snow. The children wore the same type
of clothing as the adults.

Our native informants state that boots were worn by both
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sexes in winter. Though special summer boots for women
were mentioned, we have no information about men’s
summer footgear. Boots were made of seal skin, with the
hair turned inside on the sole and on the upper. Though

the Eyak. removed the hair from skins, we were not told

whether depilated skins were ever used for boots. Boots
were made in two pieces, the sole and the upper. The sole
covered only the bottom of the foot. The upper was gathered
at the toe with three stitches before it was sewed to the sole,
and it was seamed up the back. While this type of boot
resembles those of the Eskimo, Mrs. Gus Nelson said that
the Eyak boots were different from those of their Eskimo
neighbors. The Eyak sewed the boot seams clear through
the skin; they were not blind-stitched to make them water-
proof. The boots of chiefs were decorated about the top with
porcupine quills and beads. Soles were replaced as they
wore out. Thongs to fasten on the boots were sewn on at
the ankle and at the top. Both short and long boots were
of the same pattern. Men's hunting boots reached to the
thigh; their ordinary boots to the calf (to just below the
knee, Mrs. Gus Nelson). Women’s boots were short in
summer (below the knee), and long in winter, though the
exact length for the latter was not specified. No sandals
and no shoes of fish skin were made. Bear skin was some-
times used for boots. In incident 21, Raven teaches the
people to make “moccasins’ of bear skin.

Both mittens and gloves, called by different names, were
worn. Muskrat skins and sometimes the skins of young
beavers were used for mittens. No mittens with rattling
puffin beaks were used in dances. ABERCROMBIE Saw Ino
mittens or gloves.

Women had a robe or blanket, made of small skins
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sewed together, which fell from the shoulders to the heels.
The skins of mink (Mrs. Gus Nelson), marmot, goat, eagle
or swan (Galushia) were used. The robe was not worn
when the woman was. active. It did not seem to have any
fastenings, but the edges were grasped with the arms crossed
and the blanket wrapped about the body. The robe was
chiefly used as a covering at night. Men also had robes.
We do not know if they were much worn during the day.
That they may have been worn commonly, probably as
an overcoat in cold weather, is suggested by PETROFF’s
observation in 1880: “The fur garments or parkas of the
Eskimo have been supplanted by the blanket worn by the
Thlinket.””* The value of the statement is, however, con-
siderably weakened by PETROFF’s erroneous assumption
that the Eyak were originally Eskimo who had adopted

~ Tlingit culture. From ABERCROMBIE’s descriptions we know

that even in 1884 the Eyak were commonly wearing clothing
of an Eskimo pattern. Galushia also described a blanket
worn by the chief’s daughter, which had a design of buttons
sewn on it. We do not know if the blanket was of white
man’s manufacture (though the buttons themselves seem
to have been made by the natives), nor whether the button
blanket was a copy of the recent button blankets farther
south. It is possible that it represents an aboriginal garment.
The buttons were made from -a rare kind of clam shell with
a pearly interior, which was called by the same name as the
dentalium. Pieces of the shell were cut and ground into shape,
generally round. No description was given of the patterns.

! Perrorr 1884, 146. In his report (p.397), ABERCROMBIE. also ob-
served that in 1884 the Eyak dressed in the same manner as the Tlingit.
His oral account confirms, however, the natives’ own descriptions of
their more Eskimo-like costume. '
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At the death potlatch, the next of kin(?) would wear
the dead man’s robe and his other clothes. Raven (incident
21) teaches the people to make blankets of bear skin.
ApErcROMBIE mentioned (see Houses) bedding of goat
and bear skins, and woven goat wool, but the natives denied
that they made blankets of wool or woven fur strips. In
incident 5, Raven acquired a gréss blanket. While it is
possible that this was the grass mat used as floor and wall
covering in the house, it is more likely that the blanket of
the story refers to the cedar bark robes worn by the more
southerly Northwest Coast Indians, and does not represent
an Eyak article of dress. Grass and bark mats were worn
by the Prince William Sound Eskimo, at least as grave
wrappings.

ABERCROMBIE says that when fishing the men wore only
a breech clout. This was a strip of skin pulled between the
legs and tucked into a belt in front and in back. Galushia
also mentioned an “apron,” though he was unable to give
any definite description of it.

Special clothing was worn for war, for potlatches, and
for shamanistic performances. In war time, the men wore
a rectangular apron, fastened by a cord around the waist,
the lower end hanging free in front. No band of skin passed
between the legs. There was mno decoration reserved for
great warriors. As already stated, at the mourning ceremony

for slain warriors the men wore feathers in their head-

bands.
Every one had a best suit of clothes to be worn when

visiting or on important occasions. Johnny Stevens said
that these were decorated with dentalium shells and por-
cupine quills, but according to Galushia these decorations
were reserved for the chiefs and their families. At some of
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the dances connected with the potlatch, fancy costumes
were worn, either comic or representing animals and birds.
Men wore headbands. The chief of each moiety wore a skin
headdress embroidered with shell beads in the shape of
the clan bird (this was probably the dentalium shell head-
dress, already mentioned), A man from each moiety wore
a wooden mask representing the Eagle or the Raven. These
masks were painted and were decorated around the edges
with teeth and beads. There were holes for the eyes, nose,
and mouth. The mask was attached by a string around the
head(?). In the dance witnessed by ABERCROMBIE at Ala-
ganik, one of the dancers was a “young man representing
the ‘totem’ of his family.”! He may have worn a mask,
though ABERCROMBIE did not so describe him.

In conversation, Colonel ABERCROMBIE was able to
describe in some detail the costumes worn at the dances.
All of the male performers, with the exception of Kai, the
medicine man, wore masks depicting the characters they
represented, both human and animal. The masks were
painted black and red, and were tied on by a sinew cord
around the head. There could have been no mouthpiece
for additional support because all the actors took part in
the dialogue. Around the edges of the masks were feathers,
but none had arms, legs, or wings. In each case, the feathers
in a man’s mask were like those in his crown. Thus, Kai's
assistant had raven tail feathers, and the dancers had either
eagle wing or tail feathers. ABERCROMBIE thinks there was
some significance in the choice, though he does not know
what it was. .

On ordinary occasions, according to Galushia, the sha-
man dressed like other men, but when practicing he wore

1 ABERCROMBIE 1900, 385.
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some sort of special costume. He did not wear an animal
disguise, but had a mask of some kind, a bone necklace,
and a belt. Johnny Stevens denied any special costume for
shamans, though he mentioned the doctor’s belt. He said
that except for the method of wearing the hair, there was
nothing about the shaman’s appearance to indicate his
profession. Colonel ABERCROMBIE can remember only that
Kai's clothing was distinguished in some way. JACOBSEN,
however, describes a shaman’s costume, and also mentions
purchasing one at Cape Martin. Unfortunately we cannot
be sure if this was Eyak or Tlingit. When about to hold
a seance: ‘‘The shaman clothes himself first of all in his
festival dress, which consists of a kind of apron, hung with
bird beaks or the hoofs of wild mountain goats. He paints
his face, covers his head with a kind of hat, or, according
to the medicine that he wants to make, with a mask, and
takes his rattle in his hand. .. As soon as one song is ended
and a new one is to be begun, the medicine man puts on
another costume, or mask, or headdress, and sprinkles
eagle down on his head, ete.”’t

Several taboos relating to clothing should be mentioned.
There was no special season prescribed for making clothing,
but a woman was not allowed to do so while her husband
was out hunting. Women were not allowed to wear fresh
seal skins, but we do not know how long the skins had
to age before they could be worn. There was no such
restriction on men. There was a taboo against sewing
together in one garment the skins of land and sea animals.
Thus sea-otter fur and seal skin might be combined, but
seal skin could not be mixed with goat skin or with the fur
of any land animal. Galushia thought that the taboo would

1 Jacossen 1884, 390 f.
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not apply to skins that were six months old, but Johnny
S{:ef’(?ns belie\.red that the taboo was absolute. The pro-
hibition applied most strongly to seal and goat skins.
Galushia was not sure about goat and sea-otter when the
question was specifically asked, nor was he sure how
land-otter and beaver were classified. While he could tell
us nothing about hair embroidery, he was of the opinion
that the taboo against mixing the two types of fur would
have prevented its use (or largely restricted it). Apparently
the rule did not apply to sinew thread, for mountain goat
sinew was used for all sewing (Mrs. Gus Nelson). In in-
cident 21, Raven teaches the women how to sew with bear
sinew.
Tools and Techniques.

Methods of working stone have been forgotten by the
Eyak and little information could be obtained on this sub-
ject. Thus Galushia knew only that stone was pecked and
polished, and could not say whether a flaking tool was used
for chipping. It is probable that flaking was little employed,
since neither the Prince William Sound Eskimo nor the
Tlingit seem to have flaked stone to any appreciable extent.

Both a stone adze and a stone axe were used (Tales 12 A,
14A, 17). The blades were of greenstone, obtained some-
where in Boswell Bay, Hinchinbrook Island, and were
grooved for attachment to the handle. They were difficult
to make and easily broken. In Tale 17, the slave who has
broken the edge of his axe fears a beating. We have already
mentioned the grooved, greenstone axe blade, found at
Point Whitshed Radio Station, a site which may have been
either Eyak or Eskimo. Grooved stone axes, ‘though rare,
were certainly used by the prehistoric Chugach Eskimo of
Prince William Sound.
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Colonel ABERCROMBIE says that in 1884 the Eyak were
still using tools of stone and native copper, and had no
Russian or American implements. His memory is probably
at fault; it is more likely that they possessed a few imported
tools. The only adze used was the large grooved blade,
which we have elsewhere described as a “‘splitting adze.”’!
As far as the Eyak are concerned this term is a misnomer,
since ABERCROMBIE reports that the adze was used for
shaping wooden objects, such as the dugout, while a stone
axe was used for splitting wood. The blade of this axe
was about as big as a man’s two hands laid with the palms
together. It was ungrooved. The wooden handle was lashed
to one side of the head. The blade would be used and
resharpened until it was worn down to the butt. He did
not see any of the small “planing adze’ blades set into a
bone haft, like those used by the Chugach Eskimo.

There were apparently three types of knives. The woman'’s
knife of stone (Tales 20 and 24) is said to have been like
the Eskimo ulo. There was also a man’s knife about which
the natives were able to give us no information, but since
both the Chugach? and the Tlingit® had daggers of copper,
we should imagine the Eyak knife to have been of this
type. Men also used a crooked knife for carving. Beaver
teeth and walrus ivory are said to have been used for carv-
ing (as blades for the crooked knife?), but no thumb
protector was worn.

ABErRcrROMBIE does not remember seeing any stone

! pE Laguna 1934, 56 & passim.

* Cook 1785, 400; Sauver 1802, 196. Copper was traded from the
Copper River Indians.

* La Pirouse 1797, 11,172 (Yakutat of Lituya Bay). Swantox (1908,
437) reports that all the copper for copper plates is said to have come
from the Copper River.
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knives at Alaganik. Both men and women used long,
double-edged copper daggers, which they obtained in trade
from the Copper River Indians. These had a blade with
three beveled surfaces on one side, the other side being
flat; the handle was wound with skin and ornamented
with two ear-like spiral projections. A specimen, obtained
at Taral in 1884, was generously given to the University
Museum by Colonel ABERCROMBIE as a typical example
(Plate 13,3). It is 34 cm. long; the blade proper is 21 by
2.8 cm.; the handle, without the skin wrapping, is 1.4 cm.
wide and 0.4 em. thick. The edges of the blade were sharp-
ened by grinding on the beveled side only. Every native
carried a fine-grained sandstone for this purpose. Even the
women used these daggers for cutting up fish and game,
or else used a sharpened clam shell. ABERCROMBIE noticed
no ulo except this clam shell, and no crooked knife.

We have no information about weapon blades, except
that they were of stone. Galushia hazarded that they were
of chipped slate, but it is far more likely that any slate
blades were ground. Itis curious that he had no information
about copper blades, since copper seems to have been
commonly acquired in trade by the Eskimo and Tlingit
from the Copper River Indians. The agate spear head in
the story about the dwarfs (Tale 18) was only a miniature
weapon. No agates were found big enough for real use.

ABERCROMBIE does not remember seeing any stone
weapon blades. Arrows were tipped with bone points; the
spears or harpoons for fish had detachable barbed heads
of bone or copper. Only Long Jim had a spear with an
iron head. This specimen will be described in the section
on Fishing (Plate 12, 2)

According to our native informants no stone pots or stone
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lamps were used. The only lamp was described as a clam
shell filled with seal oil or pitch, with a lump of fat for a
wick. It was used only to illuminate the sleeping room and
was never used for cooking. Curiously enough, ABERCROMBIE
saw stone but not shell lamps. These were roughly hollowed
sandstone cobbles, with a wick of cottonwood fluff leaned
against the rim. He also saw dried eulachon used as candles.
Galushia had never heard of stone mortars and ‘pestles,
though specimens are

saidg to I)have been
found at the site of

e . Eyak. One of the

Fig. 6. Earthenware pipe with wooden stem, pestles was shaped
from a sketch by ABERCROMBIE.

like a telephone re-
ceiver. In Russian days a wooden mortar was used for
snuff, but the Eyak did not use a snuff tube.
ABERCROMBIE reports that tobacco was little used either
by the Eskimo or the Eyak. In 1884, Hovr, the trader at
Nuchek, was the only white man in the region who smoked.
ABERCROMBIE does not remember seeing any native using
snuff, either at Nuchek or Alaganik. Only a few Eyak men
and women smoked, and when white men’s goods were
offered, they preferred tea to tobacco or flour. The tobacco
that they obtained was chewing plug, from which they
whittled off chips to smoke. Their pipes, of which ABER-
croMBIE saw only four or five at Alaganik, were small,
affording only a few whiffs. The bowls were of native
pottery: clay mixed with sand, crudely shaped and imper-
fectly fired. The color ranged from dark blue to yellow, and
was different on the two sides, showing that the pipes had
been dried beside an open fire. These were the only objects
of native pottery that ABERCROMBIE saw at Alaganik. The
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stems of the pipes were of arrowwood, from which the pith
had been extracted, and were 4 or 5 inches (10 or 12 cm.)
long (Figure 6). |

Fire was made by means of a fire board and a drill
(Tale 12A). Old Man Dude described both a hand and a
cord drill. He said that it was customary for two persons
to collaborate in making fire, one to operate the drill, the
other to press down on the brace in which the drill revolved.
Galushia described a pump drill, but we may assume that this
was of recent introduction. Punk was used for tinder. Care was
taken to keep the drill always dry. There seems to have been
no knowledge of pyrites. Fire was used for felling trees (?),
and in hollowing out the dugout. ABERcROMBIE did not see
fire made. When traveling by canoe, he says that the na-
tives used to carry a glowing coal between two pieces of
punk. They did not take fire when hunting mountain goats.

The drill seen by ABERCROMBIE for rﬁaking holes was a
pump drill, about 18 inches long. The shaft was of arrow-
wood, about as thick as a man’s liitle finger, he judged; a
stone point was lashed to it with sinew. He did not see any
bow drills. Similar pump drills, sometimes larger in size,
were used at Nuchek.

All wood working was done by the men. Wooden wedges
were used for splitting wood. Three specimens were found
in front of the house ruin at Alaganik. The first of these
(P-UM 30-25-99a, Plate 11, 4) is very roughly made, 29 cm.
long and 6 or 7 cm. in diameter. The second (Plate 11,5) is
carefully made, and measures 33 cm. in length and 3 cm.
in diameter. The smallest specimen (Plate 11, 6) is only
13.5 cm. long and 3 cm. in diameter. ABERCROMBIE Says
that in splitting a log, the stone axe was used to make the
first euts. Then wooden wedges were inserted along the cut.
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These were hit in succession, not very hard, with a large
unworked stone. The man stood astride the log and held
the stone in both hands. As the wedges were driven in,
longer ones were inserted until they were finally driven
through the log. In this way the Eyak were able to split
out planks only 2 or 3 inches (5 or 7 cm.) thick.
Before bending, wood was warmed, but was not steamed
or put in water. However, for bending out the sides of the
canoe, boiling (Galushia) or hot (ABERCROMBIE) water was
used. ABERCROMBIE says that when adzing out the inside
of the canoe, the Eyak chopped away the wood in long
parallel grooves. When the ridges between were removed,
the wood was finished with long lines of adze marks. He

“also says that wooden pins were used for nailing together

the planks of the house door, the planks of the grave house
and of the picket fence around the grave (see Death and
Burial). A hole was drilled first, and after the pin was
inserted, both ends of ‘the pin were forced apart by small
wooden wedges, which fastened the pin securely in the same
manner that we fasten an axe handle into the head (Figure 3).

Spruce-wood boxes with lids were used for storage. The
box was square, with vertical sides and a flat bottom. As
described by Galushia, it was made in five pieces, the sides
and bottom grooved and fitted together. The lid had a flange
around the edge, so that the thicker central part fitted into
the top of the box. It was tied on and lacked hinges.
According to ABERCROMBIE, these boxes were about 12
inches square, and were made of four sides and a bottom
that fitted between the sides. These pieces were all nailed
together. Holes were drilled, and then round pegs with
small wedges in the ends were driven into the holes. When
the peg hit the bottom of the hole, the wedge was forced

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska 9

into the peg, vvidening it so that it stuck fast. The outer end
of the peg was also fastened by a small wedge. The lids
were hinged on two sinew rings, twisted so that the ends
of the sinew were hidden. There was also a braided sinew
cord, attached to the front of the box, which could be passed
through a hole in the lid to tie it shut. The ends of the cord

Fig. 7. Painted wooden box, as described by ABercromBIE. The dotted
areas indicate red paint. He has forgotten other details of decoration.

were braided to form a knob. This fastening and the sinew
hinges were kept pliable with oil. The boxes were decorated
with paintings on the covers and on the sides. ABERCROMBIE
does not remember what these patterns were, except that
on the front of the box was the same eye that was painted
on doors and canoe paddles (Figure 7). According to
Galushia, boxes were usually plain, but some were painted,
and some(?) carved. He believes there was red paint, and
blue paint made from blueberry juice. ABERCROMBIE thinks
the reddish-brown stain was made by boiling skunk cabbage
leaves (more probably hemlock bark?). Neither the red nor
the black paint was affected by water.
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According to the tales, seal oil was kept in the boxes
(Tales 4A, 17; Raven, incident 2 “‘bucket:” incident 11).
In Tale 6B, berries are put up in a “barrel,” probably a
box of this type. ABERCROMBIE says that small belongings
were kept in these boxes. In the play which he witnessed
the sun was kept in a small wooden box, and in incident
3 of the Raven cycle, the sun, moon, and stars were kept
in a wooden box hanging from the ceiling. In Tale 8, the
woman keeps a porpoise head in a box in her sleeping room.

JacosseN reports that he saw at Alaganik “many utensils
carved out of wood which looked exactly like objects seen
in British Columbia.”?

Storage vessels were also made of hemlock bark which
was gathered in spring by the women. The bark was cut
across at the bottom of the desired strip, and was pried off
the tree with a sharp flat stick (bark-stripping wedge).
Sometimes if a great deal of bark were required the men
would cut a tree down. Later, Galushia said that a piece
of bark might be used for a temporary dish but that there
were no regular bark dishes. When telling incident 21 of
the Raven cycle, Johnny Stevens explained how bark pails
were made. The bark was taken in the spring. One piece was
used for the side, and one for the bottom. Holes were drilled
(punched?) for the peeled young spruce roots used for sewing
the pail together. (The side of a birchbark vessel of this type
was found in an Eskimo cave burial on one of the islands
of the Mummy Island group). In this tale, goat fat was tried
out in the bark pail. In Tale 6 B, a bark basket was used for
berry picking. ABERCROMBIE saw open birchbark baskets
used for storing dried berries. He does not know where the
bark was obtained, since birch trees do not grow on the coast.

! Jacossen 1884, 389.

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 81

Baskets of spruce roots were made by the women and
were used for cooking, for fetching water (compare Tale 17),
for drinking cups and for berry picking (compare Tale 64).
The baskets used for berry picking (and other purposes?)
had handles across the top like a pail, but none had shoulder
straps (Mrs. Gus Nelson). In Tale 6A, the handle of the
woman’s berry basket broke. A “pack basket” (full of
crows) is mentioned in Tale 14B. (The use of this term in
describing it suggests that it may have had shoulder straps.)
Water was kept in large baskets, and small baskets were
used as cups. Each family in the house had their own cup.
Not much water had to be kept in the house because it was
always close to the stream. ABERCROMBIE saw no baskets
used as cups or for storing water, but said that the natives
at Alaganik fetched water from the slough as it was required.
He saw no elaborately decorated baskets, like those described
below. The spruce root cooking baskets which he remembers
had only a ring of red around the top. This was actually
woven into the basket, and was not put on as false em-
broidery, because he could see the line on both sides.

Mrs. Gus Nelson showed us a basket she was making
to sell. The weave was common twining, with bands of open
diagonal pattern. In the old days, she explained, all baskets
were woven closely to make them water-tight. While working
on the basket the root fibers were kept moist. She worked
with the basket held upright, twining on the nearer edge in
a counter-clockwise direction (against the sun), and held
one of the two spiral strands in her mouth. Unfortunately
we neglected to record the direction of the twist. Formerly
baskets were decorated with false embroidery of grass.
Blue was obtained by boiling the grass in blueberry juice,
and red by boiling with hemlock bark.




T T

A0 WG,

O X
7 e "

e

€
82 Kas BIRRET-SMITH and FREDERICA DE LAGUNA:

Emmons reports, probably on the basis of statements
made by his Tlingit informants, that the Eeak tella (whom
- .- . . 'Aﬁ

he supposed to be Tlingitized Eskimo on the eastern shore
of Prince William Sound) learned from the Tlingit how to
weave with roots. “They work on a very limited scale,
producing but a few small, coarse baskets, ornamented in
color, but seldom embroid-

\/ r_ r_ | ered with grass-stems.” He
3!

\/ also mentions a tribe, called

V Tl the Guth-le-uk-qwan, living
I 2 & on Controller Bay and Kayak
OOO L~-1—-1— Island,who may or may not
4 6 be the Eyak, but who have
been classed with the Eyak

8 .
m - by the Handbook of Ameri-
can Indians (see Part IIT). Of

7
S
: them he writes: ‘““Their bas-
XXXX I covork ditters onty in the
10 1

coarser strands of root em-

Fig. 8. Basketry designs, from a

ployed inthe woof,”” as com-
sketch by Annie Nelson.

pared to that used by the
Yakutat Tlingit.? Certainly the latter statement fits the original
Eyak basketry better than the first, and we suggest that it does
actually apply to older Eyak work, while his reference to the
Eeak tella applies to the recently degenerated Eyak basketry.
In other words, both people are probably the Eyak.
Annie Nelson sketched and named the following basketry
patterns (Figure 8). (For the native names see Appendix II):
1. “One above each other—pointed’
2. “Amphineura (chiton) shells”
: 3. “Cockle meat”
1 Emmons 1903, 232, 231.
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4. “Yakutat basket straws (or design)”
“Face painting”

“One after another” like waves
“Heat waves”

not translated

2. 190 IRl

“Brown bear’s ulna”
10. “Together — each other”
11. “Raven bone.”

The first two patterns were used by young girls in making
their first baskets.

These designs can be duplicated by similar or analogous
Tlingit patterns described by Emmons.

(1) This is similar to EMmmoNs 25. Any triangle is called
“the head of the salmonberry.”” Triangles may be variously
combined. Triangles on a diagonal line are called ‘“‘the spear
barb;” in a vertical or horizontal line, Emmons 15, they
are ‘‘the teeth of the killer-whale.”’! \

(2) This is like Emmons 13, a horizontal row of chevrons.
This and similar angular designs are called by the Yakutat
“the outside of the tent-shell (limpit)”’. Specific names are:
Emmons 8, “the tail of the tern;” 9, “‘the feather wings of
the arrow;” and 13, “the peculiar flake-like appearance of
the flesh of a fish cut along the line of the greater axis.”?

(3) This is identical with Emmons 36, “‘the work or
embroidery around the head” on the helmet or basket hat
of the shaman, and is supposed to represent the terraces
on a mountain side.?

(4) This is Emmons 35, a vertical pattern called “‘the
squirrel’s tail,” apparently equated with a similar isolated

! Emmons 1903, 270, 268.
? Emmons 1903, 267.
* EmMMons 1903, 274.
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figure. Both of these are also called ‘‘old-person-hand-back-
of-tattooed.”* Curiously enough Eyak 4, “Yakutat design,”
has a sitrong resemblance to one variety of Emmons 37,
which is the same pattern applied horizontally, but with
the addition of a short horizontal line in each open space.
This is called by the Tlingit “Guth-luh-ku — a word from
the tongue of an older race that descended the Copper River
and peopled these shores before the coming of the Tlingit.”
According to the Yakutat the name refers to the tide, either
as reflecting a floating and bobbing object, or as tide marks
on the shore.? The “older race” are probably the Eyak,
and so we have two almost identical designs, ascribed by
the Yakutat to the Eyak, and by the Eyak to the Yakutat.

(5) This is a combination of diamonds. An isolated
diamond, Emmons 29, is called “‘the eye” by the Yakutat,
or a “‘drop of liquid” by the Tlingit farther south. A series
of diamond-shaped outlines strung on a horizontal median
line is called “‘the beaver-skin stretching frame.’’3

(6) This is Emmons 6, which appears in oblique bands,
and is called “the lightning.”’*

(7) This may be Emmons 10, a horizontal band of rhom-
boid figures, alternating in color; called “‘the leaves of the
fire-weed””, or EMmons 11, the same design spaced in pairs,
called the rainbow, literally ‘‘the wings of different colors.”
Or it may be Emmons 22, horizontal bands of diagonal lines,
but without bordering lines, woven with colored woof strands
and not embroidered. This is called ‘‘the strawberry
basket.”?

I Emmons 1903, 273.
* Emmons 1903, 274.
3 Emmons 1903, 271.
4 Emmons 1903, 265.
® Emmons 1903, 266 f, and 269.
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(8) This is EmMmMoNs 20, ‘“‘one straight,” or ‘“‘the cross-
piece of the fish drying-frame on which rest the small rods
which carry the split fish.”?

(9) This resembles Emmons 30, which is, however, an
isolated single or double cross. The latter is called “towards
each other.”’?

(10) This is EmMons 47, “checkers-under-board,” or
“checkers-foot-board.”’3

(11) This may be a combination of Emmons 42. The
single X is called “crossing.” Or, if the diamonds and
triangles are to be considered as solid units, it might be
variation of the triangle pattern, like Emmons 15 ““teeth of
the killer-whale,” or EmMons 25 “small sand-hills,”” both
of which are composed of horizontal bands of triangles.

While there is thus a close similarity between the designs
used by the Eyak and the Yakutat, the names do not exhibit
a one-to-one correspondence. On the whole, however, the
system of naming was essentia]ly the same for both people.
In addition to the names quoted above, the Tlingit also have
“the foot print of the brown bear,” “‘the back-bone or ribs
of the hair seal,”” “‘the hood of the raven,” ‘“the tail of the
* “the outside of the smaller scallop shell,” “joining
together,” and ‘‘one within another.”® Were basket-making
still as live an art now among the Eyak as it was when
Emmons visited the Tlingit, we should probably have been
able to obtain a list of names and patterns from them quite
comparable to those recorded by EmMONs.

raven,

! Emmons 1903, 269.

* EMmons 1903, 272.

* Emmoxs 1903, 277.

* Emmons 1903, 276, 268, 270.

5 Emmons 1903, designs 6 (p.265), 12 (p.267), 16 (p.268), 31 (p.
272), 23 (p. 270), 21 (p. 269), and 45 (p. 276).
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EmMons illustrated a “Guth leuk’” basket obtained on
Kodiak Island,! which is probably of Eyak manufacture.
It is decorated by a row of diamonds connected by a medial
line, probably our design 5, ““face painting,”” and the checker-
board pattern, our design 10. Another basket, collected at
Nuchek, Emmons believes was made either at Kayak Island
or at Yakutat.* His guess as to its provenience is equivalent
to saying that it was either Eyak or Yakutat work. The
designs are our numbers 3 and 10, and a figure formed by
a square in the middle, from which four triangles (half-
squares) project at the corners. The latter Emmons groups
with the triangle combinations (his design 25).

A few baskets are included in the Jacossen collection
(B-MV,IV A 6359-62). The two former specimens are both
cylindrical twined baskets made of spruce roots with a
reinforced rim. Two pairs of similar reinforcements also
occur on IV A 6360 near the bottom, which is more bowl-
shaped than on the other specimen. The decoration will
appear from the illustrations (Plate 14,1—2). IV A 6359 has a
diameter and height of ab. 28 em. The colors of the decora-
tion are yellow, brown, and gray. IV A 6360 has a diameter
of 14.5 and a height of 18.5 cm. Colors: yellow, brown,
and black. There is a short, twisted loop attached to the rim.

The other two baskets are of less interest, since both are
imitations of ordinary tea-kettles produced in the same
twined technique as the preceding ones. IV A 6362 is
decorated with bands of chevrons and obliquely arranged
stripes, and on the lid there is a whirl ornament. Colors:
yellow, brown, and gray. IV A 6361 is somewhat smaller,
and the bottom is provided with an off-set like that which

' Emmons 1903, pl.V, 3.
* Emmons 1903, pl. XI, 4.
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on real kettles is intended for placing in the hole of the stove.
The decoration consists of bands of diamonds, chevrons, and
triangles, and on the lid concentric circles. The colors are
the same as on IV A 6362.

A mother would put her daughter’s nail parings into a
basket that she was making, so that the girl would grow
up to be skillful in this work (Galushia). Basket-making is
mentioned in Tales 6, 16, and 18.

Grass mats used in the sleeping room and Raven’s grass
blanket have already been mentioned. We have no informa-
tion from the natives about the manufacture of the grass
mat, and might assume that they were twined like those of
the adjacent Eskimo. Colonel ABERCROMBIE, however,
reports that the reed mats spread on the benches of the large
houses were woven. The strands ran diagonally, not parallel
to the edges of the mat, and were woven over-one under-one.
The goats hair blanket used for bedding has already been
mentioned, and though ABERCROMBIE cannot describe it
further, we can assume that it was twined.

Besides baskets, skunk cabbage leaves were used as cups.
A drinking tube made of a swan’s wing bone was also used,
and Galushia did not think it was restricted to adolescent
girls. Galushia says that clam shells were used as dishes,
and ABERCROMBIE remembers them as cups.

Food was served in wooden bowls, either round or
square, and long wooden dishes. Meat was also served on
round or square wooden plates. Mrs. Gus Nelson specified
that the wooden dish or bowl was about 18 inches long,
3 inches high, and oval in shape. The men, of course, made
these vessels. Each family had its own dish, from which
all ate at the same time. From what Colonel ABERCROMBIE
says, food was not served in wooden platters except at feasts.
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1

Ordinarily each member of the family went to the cooking
basket with his own spoon, and ate the food from his Spoon
with his fingers. After the two dances that ABERCROMBIE
attended, food was passed about in wooden plates and
platters. The plates were round, about 12 inches in dia-
meter, and 2/, or 3 inches deep. The platters were like
large boat-shaped ladles, about 18 inches long. They were
pointed at one end, and cut
squarely across the other, from
which projected ashorthandle.
They were carved from cotton-
wood (Figure 9).
Galushiatold usthat spoons

3 were made of wood or goat
Fig. 9. Boat-shaped wooden serving 10Tn. Water in which meat
platter with handle, as described had been boiled was drunk

Ry ARERCRONEE, from woodep spoons. There
was a large spoon or ladle for serving meat and this was
kept in the cooking basket. Sometimes a sharp stick (meat
fork) was used in serving meat. Each person had his own
individual spoon. Spoons were also made of eagle beaks
tied to sticks.

ABERCROMBIE saw spoons of goat horn but none of sheep
horn. He does not know how the natives were able to
remove the horn from the skull without breaking it, but
suggests that the skull with the horns may have been boiled.
The horn was cut across diagonally as far up as the natural
hollow extends (Figure 10, a). The handle of the spoon was
made from the top of the horn and retained its natural
curve. The bowl was cut from the butt end, which had to
be bent up. Before being worked the horn was softened
and made pliable in hot water. The horn was shaped by

- The Eyak'Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 89

rubbing with a long thin piece of sandstone, about 21/, inches
wide and 7 inches long. The total length of the finished
spoon'was about 7 or 8 inches (17 or 20 ¢m., Figure 10, b). The
wooden spoons that ABERCROMBIE saw were of the same gener-
al shape, though the handles
were straight (Figure 10,c).
The ladles used in cooking
were all of wood and were big-
ger. The total length mightbeas
much as 15inches, but the bowl
was never more than 3 inches

b
(7cm.)long. None of the spoons
were decorated. As already
mentioned he saw spoons used

(&

both as cups and as plates. ] :
Fig. 10 a, Method of cutting
When stranded whales were mountain goat horn to make a

found, the baleen was used  spoon; b, horn spoon; ¢, wooden
spoon. As described by ABER-

for dishes, spoons, and in later CROMBIE.

times, for snuff boxes with
separate wooden bottoms. ABERCROMBIE remembers a few
spoons of baleen.

For carrying packs or bundles a special strap was worn
that went across the chest, not the head, and had loops for
the arms. A pack bag is mentioned in Tale 19, but we do
not know if this was supposed to be peculiar to the Wolf
People (not the Eyak clan, but a mythical cannibal tribe).

ABERCROMBIE saw the women at Alaganik carrying their
babies on their backs by means of a pack strap across the
mother’s chest. This was fastened to the top of the sack or
wrappings in which the baby was swaddled, and lacked
arm loops(?). The baby faced backwards and there was
nothing to protect its face from the sun or rain. The baby

{
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was always kept swaddled. When in the house, the child
was laid on the bench beside the mother; when traveling,
in the bottom of the canoe. As soon as a child could toddle,
it was no longer carried.

In old days fat and flesh were scraped from skins with
a stone knife or scraper (compare Raven, incident 21).
Now, Mrs. Gus Nelson puts the skin over a thick pole, held
horizontally, and scrapes the skin with a butcher knife.
Galushia explained that this use of the knife was recent.
Raw goat skins (all skins?) were first washed in running
water, then stretched, scraped and pounded with a stone
until soft. On hunting trips, skins were dried and stretched
on stakes driven into the ground. A drying frame of some
kind was used in the village. After the fat had been removed
from bird skins, they were washed and rubbed between the
hands. Intestines used for waterproof shirts were first
squeezed to remove the contents. Then they were washed,
and for drying were inflated with air, after the ends had
been tied. When dry, they were split open. Hair was removed
from skins by soaking them in warm water for several
weeks. We believe that this statement of the time is ex-
aggerated. A skin soaked so long would rot. The Central

Eskimo, who employ the same method, only soak the skin .

a few days. Urine or brains were not used for this (Galushia).
Mrs. Gus Nelson insisted that only the Copper River Indians
at Chitina used to remove hair from skins. ABERCROMBIE

says that the hair was scraped from seal skins with a clam
shell. He does not mention the use of hot water, but says
only that the skin was rolled up with the hair inside and
kept this way for some time until the hair had rotted loose.

Thongs were made by the men from fresh or dried seal
skins. If the skin was dry, it was soaked before the thongs
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were cut. Since the skin was always cut up the belly of the
animal before being removed, thongs were cut from a flat
piece. The thong was cut in a spiral, beginning at the outer
edge of the skin. Then the line was stretched and dried,
but no thong smoother was used.

Formerly the Eyak had no needles. Holes for the thread
were punched with a bone awl, and the edges of the skin
were softened by chewing. ABERCROMBIE saw the women
sewing with bone awls in 1884. Before they made the holes,
they chewed the skin and allowed it to dry. He reports that
the stitching was from left to right and was well done. He
did not notice any fringes on clothing. According to the
natives, the thread was of sinew, dried, split, and twisted
into a three-strand thread. The end of the thread was
moistened in the mouth, and pushed through the hole made
by the awl. Mrs. Gus Nelson said that only goat sinews were
used, but in incident 21, Raven teaches the people to make
thread of bear sinews. The Eyak used to buy thread from
the Chitina Indians, she claims, but Galushia believes that
this trade was modern (after game was scarce along the
coast?). The only stitch which she knew was overcasting,
from back to front, and from left to right. Apparently blind
stitching to make waterproof seams was not known. Since
this stitch pierces only half the thickness of one piece of skin,
it would have been very difficult to make without needles.

Women’s sewing bags were of skin and had three
pockets. There were no bags of birds’ feet or animal leg
skins. (Makari, our Eskimo informant, said that though his
people did not make bags of birds’ feet, they were made
by the Eyak and Yakutat). The sewing bags seen by ABER-
CROMBIE were made of two pieces of seal oesophagus, over-
cast together. The bottom was rounded. About the top was
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a drawstring, which passed through holes which had been
buttonhole-stitched with sinew (Figure 11). He also sas
sewing bags of young dehaired seal skin, and understood that
the skinwas obtained from Nuchek in exchange for goat skin.
In these bags the women carried hunks of sinew from which
they pulled off strips to use for thread as they were needed.
The natives said that clothes were washed in urine.
Colonel ABERCROMBIE does not believe
that the Eyak ever washed their clothes
in urine or cleaned them with clay as
did the Copper River Indians, because
their garments were always filthy. Ga-
lushia did not think that the Eyak
washed themselves in urine, though

!
1

e e

Fig. 11. Sewing bag, as Wwashing the hands in urine is speci-

described by ABER- fically mentioned in Tale 12 A. Ga-
i lushia remembers seeing only one
urine tub. This was owned by the man at Alagaﬁik who
had the sealskin war canoe. The tub was square, and was
hollowed out of a log. Apparently urine was not much
used, in any case, for ABERCROMBIE did not notice that the
Eyak saved it, as did the Indians whom he visited on the
Copper River. ,

Both the natives and ABERCROMBIE mention lines and
lashings of braided or twisted sinew. ABERCROMBIE Says
that these had to be kept pliable with oil. Galushia believes
that no rope was made of bast or fiber, though in Tale 16
a rope of roots is mentioned, and he admitted that halibut
fishing lines were made of dried kelp. ABERCROMBIE also
reports that the fish line was a 6(?)-strand braid of dried
fibers of some sort (grass or roots — perhaps kelp). It was
about as thick as the sinew line on Long Jim’s spear head
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(Plate 8, 1), and was dyed brown. It had to be dried
out after use. JACOBSEN says that the rope used by the sha-
man in one of his exhibitions was made of bast or leather.!

The snow shovel was made of a single flat board. There
was no separate edging on the blade, and no handle on the
blade for the left hand.

Measurements were estimated by the span of a man’s
outstretched arms, by half that distance, by the length of
a hand, by the span between the tip of the thumb and the
tip of the middle finger, and by the length of the last joint
of the thumb.

Preparation of Food.

Both meat and fish were eaten fresh. The former was
taboo to menstruating or pregnant women. Fresh herring
and whitefish were specifically forbidden to pregnant women.
Meat and fish were boiled in spruce-root baskets with hot
stones (see Raven, incident 21).

No salt was used when boiling meat. It was usually
cooked in fresh water, but sometimes salt water was used,
(individual preference, or only when fresh water was
unobtainable?). ABERcROMBIE says that at Alaganik fresh
salmon were cooked in salt water by choice. Blood of all
game animals was saved and was added to the soup in
which the meat had been boiled. The soup was eaten with
the regular meal. Meat of sea mammals might be eaten at
the same meal with the meat of land animals, and they
might even be cooked together in the same pot, though the
latter was seldom done since it would spoil the flavor of
both. There was no taboo against it, however (Galushia and

Johnny Stevens). Vegetable products were never cooked in

1 Jacomrsen 1884, 391.

———————— . i —

I




PN

SE—
L 2

94 Kas BIRKET-SMITH and FREDERICA DE LAGUNA:

the same basket with meat, (see, however, the green stuff
cooked with the first salmon).

ABERCROMBIE says that though there was only one fire
in the middle of the house, each woman when cooking
would pull out a few coals and burning sticks for her own

use, so that there would be as many

Y ; & little subsidiary fires as there were cooks.
ﬂ], ' The stones used for boiling water were

special round hard rocks which must

< = RS have been brought to Alaganik from
some distance, he thinks. Some of these

‘\ . had been chipped to the desired shape.

Only one stone was needed to boil and

Fig. 12, Method of C0OK a basketful of fish. The stone was

holding wooden tongs, heated under a little fire, made by set-
as described by
ABERCROMBIE.

ting up three sticks, tipi-fashion, against
which other sticks were leaned. When
red hot, the stone was forked out on two long sticks. The
sticks were grasped together at one end by the right hand
and were slightly spread by the left. One stick was placed
between the left thumb and forefinger, the other between
the middle and ring finger (Figure 12). The fingers of old
women were stiffened in this position. The stone was not
grasped between the sticks, but was scooped up on them.

Meat and fish were also roasted on spits (Tale 4B and
Raven, incident 21), and meat was roasted on a plank. Two
flat wooden stakes, 30.5 and 35 cm. long respectively, were
found at Alaganik and were identified by Galushia as spits
for fish (Plate 11, 1, 2). The spits were set into the ground
beside the fire and were inclined towards it. Johnny Stevens
specified that the spit (for fish or for meat only?) was made
of three sticks. In Tale 9, seals were roasted around the
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camp fire. Before Raven taught the people how to roast
meat on spits, they cooked it on hot stones (incident 21).
ABERCROMBIE, however, did not notice any roasting on spits
at Alaganik, though it was common in the interior. All the
cooking that he saw was by boiling. The Copper River
Indians often baked birds in a clay jacket, but he did not
see the Eyak practice this method. Galushia told us that
salmon were sometimes baked in a hole dug in the beach,
over which a fire was built (Raven, incident 9).

Most of the supplies for winter were obtained in the
summer. Meat to be dried was cut in strips and smoked
over a slow fire of green hemlock (green alder?) because
it burns slowly with little heat. In incident 11, Raven’s
partner smokes both fish and meat with drift wood. It takes
about a week to smoke meat. Sometimes meat was boiled
before smoking. Dried meat was put up in wooden boxes
with seal oil and these were kept on top of the sleeping
rooms. No pemmican was made. In incident 21, Raven
teaches the people to put up goat fat in bark pails. The
liver of animals was never dried, but was always eaten
fresh. Seal brains were eaten.

In June, when ABERCROMBIE was at Alaganik, he saw
salmon drying on racks in the sun but did not see any
being smoked. It was the work of the women to unload
the canoes, split the fish and hang them up to dry. Eulachon
and herring were also dried. The Eyak whom he saw camped
at Old Town, Cordova, were drying herring on the rocks.
The herring had not been split, and as they were drying
the women would roll them frequently to expose them to
fresh surfaces of warm rock.

Quantities of fish were put up in the summer. Galushia
described two ways of cutting up salmon for smoking. The
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first method was to split the fish up the back and belly,
and hang it up with the boneless meat on one side and the
piece with the backbone and tail on the other. The second
method was to split it up the back and hang it lengthwise
over the rack. Meat and fish were smoked in the smoke-
house. The present method of smoking fish is to cut it in
strips free of bones. It takes about 8 days to smoke fish
cut in this style, and probably took much longer for the
old methods. Fish smoked in the old way had a strong
taste. As soon as the salmon was cured, the bones were
removed and the fish were stacked head to tail, and tied
in bundles. The drying of fish (Tale 21), the fish rack
(Tale 4, and Raven, incident 2A), and bundles of dried
fish (Tale 17) are mentioned in the folklore.

Seal oil and fish oil were tried out and put up in boxes
(Tale 4A and 17). The box of seal oil, in incident 11 of

the Raven cycle, is supposed to have been a square box.

with a lid that was tied on. Eulachon (candlefish) oil was
tried out by boiling the fish in a canoe.

Sockeye and silver salmon were sometimes buried in the
ground on a layer of skunk.cabbage leaves. The fish. were
allowed to rot and were eaten in the winter. Meat was
never buried.

Clams were strung on spruce roots for drying. Hemlock
roots were not used because they have a bitter taste. The
needle for stringing clams was made of wood, about 5(?)
inches long, and had an eye. After the clams were dry they
were put up in a bark or wooden box with seal oil. When
eaten fresh, they were roasted with eggs in a pit. There
seems to have been no method for preserving eggs.

The Eyak ate the root of the Kamchatka lily, locally
known as “‘wild rice.” The root was dried, and then rubbed
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into small particles like grains. -of 1'icé. These wefe

. n L . 9
boiled.

Another plant, said to resemble an artichoke, was dug
in early spring on the mud flats. It has branching roots.
Only the main part of the root was eaten. It is now dug de
with an axe. The root was eaten raw or roasted and is saide '

@

to have a sweet taste.

In the spring the sap from the inner bark of the hemlock
was scraped off in mussel shells. It was dried and served
as a sweet dessert.

Blueberries, salmonberries, high-bush cranberries (with
a bitter taste) and low-bush cranberries (like huckleberries
but with a more “oily’’ taste) were gathered. The women
picked them into baskets with handles (Tale 6A). All of
these berries were preserved for winter. Some were put
fresh into oil, others were dried in the sun on racks made
of sticks, then pounded and put up in boxes (Tale 6B, “in
a barrel’.’). Before dried berries were served, they were
cooked in oil. Berries (dried or fresh?) were boiled with
salmon eggs to make a jelly. Colonel ABERCROMBIE saw dried
berries kept in open birchbark baskets. One dish that he
remembers was a pudding made of boiled dried berries,
the stalks of the wild celery, and the inner bark of the
cottonwood. It was the latter ingredient which thickened the
mixture to the consistency of a pudding. He did not notice that
any special dishes were served exclusively for certain meals.

Three kinds of seaweed were gathered in July and
August, but only two kinds were eaten from choice (Tale 20).
The first of these is black and grows on the rocks, especially
around Mummy Island. The second kind is thick and
brown at the base, with long tapering ribbons. In times of

famine (late winter or early spring?) they ate the stems o
.
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seaweed described as having balls at the end which pop
when crushed (Fucus sp.?). Probably all these seaweeds
were boiled. They were also dried for winter use.

When starving, the Eyak would cook and eat their ékin
clothing, but they never ate clay or bark, and Galushia had
never heard of cannibalism from hunger. He admitted,
however, that the only severe famine of which he had heard
was that of Tale 28.

Before the Russians came, the Eyak had no tea, no
fermented beverages, and no tobacco. The Russians intro-
duced snuff, which the Eyak mixed with fungus and pre-
pared in a wooden mortar. No snuff tube was used. We
have already mentioned snuff boxes of baleen. It will be
remembered that ABErcromBIE did not see any natives
taking snuff, but that he saw clay tobacco pipes of native
manufacture. At present the natives make a strong and
sour bear, and obtain liquor from the local bootleggers.
In 1884, ABERcROMBIE found that tea was in universal
demand. It was brewed in a sprucerroot cooking basket,
and was drunk from spoons. The Eyak did not care for
flour and bacon; ABERcrROMBIE thinks that the latter was
too salty. At the present time their diet differs but little from
that of the poorer whites in the region.

The Eyak used to eat in the morning when they got up
and at night before they went to bed. There were no regular
meal times during the day, though people ate whenever
they were hungry. There were no special styles of cooking
and no special types of food peculiar to breakfast or dinner.
The women prepared the food, unless there was a slave

to cook and serve. On hunting trips the men cooked for

themselves. They seldom bothered to take along a cooking

basket unless they were going by canoe.

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. a9

Seal fat was stuck on a stick and given infants to suck
(compare Tale 24). Marrow was never given to young
people because it was supposed to make their bones ache.
Young people were also forbidden to eat bear liver (and
that of other animals?), bear paws, and bear(?) kidneys,
because it would make them slow. (In Raven, incident 14
slowness seems to have been associated with the stomach,
and in the Eskimo version of the same story with other
entrails). There was no taboo against young people eating
eggs. Seal flippers, considered the best part of the seal,
were never given to children, though Galushia could not
give the reason. Menstruating or pregnant women were for-
bidden to touch or eat fresh meat, the first salmon, fresh
whitefish and herring, and fresh fish roe (perhaps all fresh
fish?). Nursing mothers used to drink a great deal of fish
soup, that is, seal meat cooked in the same water in which
fish had been boiled, and a great deal of porcupine soup,
because these were supposed to produce milk.

Though the Eyak did not kill whales, there was no taboo
against eating a stranded one (compare Raven, incident 13).

Our Eskimo informant, Makari, told us that the Eyak
were so poor that they had very liitle to eat, and used to
buy food from the Eskimo in exchange for blankets, snow-
shoes, axes, and wedges. The only possible truth in this
statement, which clearly illustrates the contempt of the
Eskimo for the Eyak, may be that the Eyak sometimes
bought such marine products as seal oil or whale oil from
the Eskimo, who were certainly more adept in sea-mammal
hunting. There is, however, no indication of such trade in
the statements made by the Eyak themselves. ABERCROMBIE
thinks that the Eyak must have had hard winters, with a

great deal of snow and not much game.
7*
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Land Animal Hunting.

Goats and bears were the most important land animalg
hunted by the Eyak. The former were sought in the moun-
tains above Mountain Slough. They were commonly driven
towards hunters in ambush, but fences were not built for
these drives, nor could fire be used because it was generally
too wet. Dogs were trained to chase and hold a goat until
the hunters could kill it. Goats were killed with arrows or
with spears if the hunter could get close enough. Pits were
never dug for goats because of the rocky nature of the
country in which they lived. Tale 3 illustrates the dangers
of falling from a cliff when goat hunting. It was considered
the most dangerous type of hunting, ‘and this is reflected
in the taboos (see Magic). ABERCROMBIE says that the
natives had to climb above the goat in order to get close
enough to shoot, because the goat always looked down
the mountainside for its enemies. They would shoot the
goat between the ribs and the arrow would almost protrude
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wooden spikes, those of one log dovetailing into the spaces
between the spikes on the other. The upper log was propped
up against a notch cut in a tree, and a trigger string was
set across the bear trail. When the animal passed and pulled
the string, the upper log fell, and the bear was either killed
outright or was held by the spikes. Pits for bears were dug
in the ground, but were not furnished with stakes. No snow
pits were made. Bears were also killed with an automatic
bow, so arranged that the animal in passing would release
the arrow. This bow was different from the ordinary bow,
stronger(?), and lacked the sinew backing. The hunter was
not accustomed fo talk to the bear except to tease him. In
incident 21, Raven kills a bear with a spear.

The beaver was not hunted under the ice in winter, but
was killed in spring and fall with a deadfall set in the
beaver trail.

The fox and lynx were killed with snares fastened to
bushes. Other animals may have been killed in snares,
but Galushia is not sure. The snare is mentioned in Tale 20.

from the farther side.
The fox was also caught in a pit.

Mink and martins were taken in deadfalls. A piece of
wood with a slot in it, found at Alaganik (P-UM 30-25-99f,
Plate 11. 3), was identified by Galushia as part of a deadfall
for mink, but he did not describe the trap. Tale 5 tells of
catching groundhogs in deadfalls.

The muskrat was shot with bow and arrow. .

The weasel or ermine was caught in a box trap, buried
in the ground. A little plank was so arranged that the animal
would walk out on it and be tipped into the box.

Only the Eskimo used the torsion trap or “klipski.”

The land-otter was not purposely hunted but was oc-

5
%
33 - r
A Both brown (Kodiak grizzly) and black bear were hunted.
2 ._-i The Eyak sometimes went up Orca Inlet after bear, though

e

this was trespassing on Eskimo territory. Bears were hunted

=l af

in winter. Dogs would locate the dens and the hunters

would tease the bear until it came out. A man stood above
the hole and speared the bear as it emerged. Another method

E e B g A

was to erect a number of spears in the ground, if a soft

ki (LW s S AL

place could be found. The spears were set with their points
inclined forward. A man would tease the bear, and when
pursued would dodge behind the spears, allowing the bear
to become impaled. A deadfall was built for bears. It was
S made of an upper and a lower log, both furnished with
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casionally caught in a deadfall. The unwillingness to kill
the land-otter is undoubtedly due to the belief that these
animals are transformed human beings. It is true that in
both versions of Tale 12, the man clubbed to death the
land-otters that had kidnapped or were trying to kidnap
him, but this is rather an act of revenge than a regular hunt.
In version A he used the skins.

Wolves were not hunted because they were also sup-
posed to have been men. The Eyak believed that if attacked
by a wolf they could speak to it and induce it not to hurt
them.

The spear used for hunting was of wood, with a diamond-
shaped blade of bone, sharp on the edges and furnished
with a tang for hafting. The blade was secured by a lashing.
After stabbing an animal, the hunter would twist the blade
in the wound.

Besides the automatic bow already mentioned, there
were two kinds of bows. A short bow was used for hunting
in the woods, a longer bow on the open flats. Except for
size there was no difference between them(?). The bow
was of hemlock, with a sinew backing to make it stronger.
The backing was tied at each end and on each side of the
arrow notch in the middle, but was not twisted after it was
put on (Galushia). Johnhy Stevens says that the bow was
of spruce with a string ‘of braided sinew. He denies that
sinew backing was used. The bow was notched at one edge
in the middle where the arrow rested which, however,
seems to be an inadequate way of describing the ordinary
Northwest coast type with a narrow grip and flat wings
(cf. the bow in the Jacossen collection described below).
There was no projecting wooden string guard. The bow
was held horizontally, the arrow was pulled between the
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thumb and forefinger, i.e. the so-called primary release.
The bow was notched as a tally of game killed. Not all
game, only certain (what?) kinds were recorded. The tally
was kept only for personal gratification.

Colonel ABERCROMBIE describes the Eyak bow as short,
about 3 feet (90 cm.) long, with a sinew cord and sinew
backing. It was so stiff that an inexperienced white man
could not bend it. The Eyak bent their bows with a quick
jerk. The hunter wore a wrist guard of skin which protected
the side of his wrist and his thumb from the recoil of the
string. The guard was cut at the upper edge to make room
for the arrow, which rested between the forefinger and
middle finger of the bow hand. The Eyak were excellent
shots. ABERCROMBIE saw a man shoot an arrow, and when
it fell, 25 or 30 yards away, he hit it with a second arrow.
(Corﬁpare, however, his written statement quoted in the
next section.) When not in use the bowstring was loosened.
To restring it, the natives would bend the bow around
one knee and slide the loop at the end of the bowstring
until it engaged in the notches at the end of the bow.

The bow in the Jacossen collection (B-MV, IVA 6350,
native name ;k_(ﬂ;k_rgg’:'; Plate 12, 3) has a stave supposed to
be made of spruce. Itis the ordinary Northwest Coasttype with
a narrow, almost cylindrical grip and two flat wings. While
the back of the wings is somewhat rounded, the belly has
two facettes sloping from a median ridge to meet the back
at sharp edges at the sides. The nocks are short and cylin-
drical. The string is a four-ply braid of sinew thread, ending
in a loop at one end. There is no sinew backing. Length
140 ¢cm., maximum width of wings 4.2 cm.

The arrows had a head of bone (compare Raven,
incident 21), or stone, attached directly to the wooden
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shaft. The bult was enlarged to make a grip for the fingers
and was notched for the string. The feathers were eagle
feathers, splitin two and fastened on straight, not in a spiral,
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Fig. 13. Wooden

arrow with iron

blade,owned by
Gus Nelson.

From a sketch

by NormaN REY-
NOLDS.

by a lashing at both ends. The Eyak knew
nothing about gluing on feathers.

A bow and arrow belonging to Gus Nelson
were shown us but we were unable to measure
or photograph them. The bow was like that
made by the Eskimo of Port Graham, Cook
Inlet (close relatives of the Chugach), but
lacked string and backing. The arrow had
a barbed iron blade with a long tang. The
notch at the butt was at right angles to the
plane of the blade (Figure 13).

ABERCROMBIE adds the following infor-
mation: The arrows were made of arrow-
wood and were about 2!/, feet long. The
halves of three feathers were used. The heads
were of bone, with a single barb, slanting
back more closely than those on the spear
head. The end of the arrow shaft fitted into
the hollow bone head and was firmly fixed
with glue of some kind. The barb served to
keep the arrow in the wound. If a wounded
goat bled externally he would run until he

bled to death, but if he bled internally he would soon
fall. ABERCROMBIE saw no blunt-pointed bird arrows.

There are five arrows in the JacoBseN collection (B-MV,
IVA6351-55, native name 2‘2- ', Plate 12,4-8), all belonging
to the bow described before. They are all very much alike and
said to be used for hunting land animals and for war.

IVA 6351 has a slender iron head with a barb on either
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side and a pointed tang sunk into a wooden shaft and
secured by a whipping of sinew thread. There are three
split feathers lashed at the ends with sinew thread and cut
like the arrow feathers of the Pacific Eskimo, i. e. so that
the outer edge of the vane forms a regular curve. The nock
forms a knob with a notch for the bow string. Total length
98.2 cm., of which the head is 9.5 by 1.2 cm. IV A 6352
has a total length of 97.8 cm.; the head is 9.4 by 1.2 cm.
IV A 6353 has a broken shaft and could not be measured
accurately. IV A 6354 differs from the rest in having a
spruce-root(?) lashing at the fore end of the shaft instead
of sinew thread. Total length 102.5 cm., head 6.4 by 1.1 cm.
IV A 6355 has a total length of 93 cm., the head 10.6 by
1.1 em. :

Besides there are two loose arrow heads of bone for
land animal or bird hunting (IV A 6337—38, native name
‘;;g;c:h:”, Plate 13, 8). The stem is four-sided, ending in a short,
f)ointed blade with a barb on both sides. The tang of IV
A 6338 is wedge-shaped. Total length 17.8 and 14.1 em.,
breadth 1.6 and 1.3 cm. respectively.

Arrows were kept in a wooden quiver without a lid. It
was circular in section, widening at the top to accomodate
the feathers, and had a slight bulge in the middle. It was
made of two pieces, hollowed out and lashed together. It
was carried on a strap across the shoulders. ABERCROMBIE
does not remember seeing either wooden or skin quivers
at Alaganik. When goat hunting the men used to carry their
arrows wrapped in their bedding; when hunting in the small
canoes they put their arrows under the hollow stool.

The Eyak generally hunted in groups, led by a chief(?)
whose orders the others had to obey. Only the best hanters
went out alone. When a goat was killed (with spears?), all
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the hunters participating got a share of the meat, but the
actual killer obtained the larger share and the horns and
skin. When the animal was killed with arrows, the first to
strike the game received all (the major share?), provided
the arrow remained in the wound, even though he did not
actually kill it. The successful hunter would give a share
of his game to all the women in camp. He would keep
what he needed for his own family, and give away the rest,
first to the old people in his own house, then to people in
the other houses, as far as the meat went. If a hunter failed
to share his game, he would be ostracised. These statements
are not very consistent, because Galushia did not remember
clearly.

The Eyak used smoke for signalling when hunting, to

indicate that the party had a great deal of meat and needed.

help (to carry it back?). Galushia does not know the
signals.

There were no special hunting grounds reserved for
families or moieties or village groups. There was not much
of a yearly cycle in hunting.

By 1884 the Eyak were armed with guns. ABERCROMBIE
writes: ““The natives of this village [Alaganik] were armed
with the old three-band, brass-bound Springfield musket,
and shoot home-manufactured bullets. The natives are
indifferent shots at more than 60 yards, depending mainly

on the spear for their fish supply ... The natives never
shoot at a greater distance than 75 yards.”? “‘Like the rest
of the Coast Indians, the Eyak are armed with the double
rifle and shotgun combined.”®> Apparently they did mnot
possess revolvers, these “‘being held in greater fear and more

! ABercromBit 1900, 384 f.
* ABERCROMBIE 1900, 397.
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incomprehensible to the natives than a rifle, as they fire so
often without reloading,”* and we doubt if they own any
now. This record is difficult to reconcile with Colonel ABER-
croMBIE's oral statements that the Eyak in 1884 had no
white men’s weapons or tools. It is possible that he has
forgotten their guns, or that they had only a few. It is less
likely that the written statement should apply to some other
tribe.

Sea Mammal Hunting.

The only sea mammals hunted by the Eyak were the
seal and sea-otter. They did not hunt fur seals because they
were afraid of them, but killed the small harbor or hair
seal. They did not hunt porpoises like their Eskimo neigh-
bors, and they were afraid of the walrus because these
animals were su[;posed to be transformed human beings.
Walrus, moreover, always seem to have been scarce in this
region. They did not hunt whales, but when a dead one
was found they ate the flesh(?), and the fat, and utilized
the baleen.

Seals were hunted in the water, on rocks and sandbars,
and on the ice. Most of the seals were killed on the river
bars in summer, when a large number could be found in
one place. They were killed with a club. The club is
described by Johnny Stevens as having a tapering handle
ending in a knob. Seals were also clubbed in the shallf)w
water around the Egg Islands, and on the rocks off Gravina
Point (Johnny Stevens).

Seals on the sandbars were sometimes harpooned.
Johnny Stevens said that one hunter would act and cry lilfe
a seal to decoy the animal, while another hunter would lie

1 AprRcrOMBIE 1900, 385.
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hidden in a pit dug in the sand, with just his head showing.
He denied that one hunter alone could use this method.
Galushia, however, said that while it was customary for
several hunters to help each other, one man could both decoy
and kill the seal. The harpoon was thrown from the hand.

Seals in open water were killed by harpoons (Tale 10)
thrown by hand (Galushia) or with a throwing-board
(Johnny Stevens). A bow and arrow were also used (JS).
This must have been a harpoon arrow, like that used for
the sea-otter. Seals were usually killed in the river, rarely
in the open sea. '

Seals were not often hunted on the ice, because of the
danger of drifting away. The hunter always had to have a

canoe at hand. However, in the spring, when seals were

basking on the ice, they were sometimes hunted. The hunter .

was dressed in seal skins (as indeed he would be for any
hunting), and while stalking would imitate the noise and
movements of a seal. No special sealing scratcher was used.
For hunting on the ice, a harpoon was used. We were told
that a bladder was attached to the shaft, but this must
probably be due to confounding it with the harpoon
employed from the canoe, for on an ice-hunting harpoon
a bladder will not only be useless, but also an inconvenience.
Johnny Stevens seemed to think that the Eyak never hunted
seals on the ice before they had guns. That is why, he said,
they never went to Gravina Bay in the old days, whereas
in Russian times they began to hunt seals on the ice in
Simpson Bay, Sheep Bay, and Port Gravina. We feel certain
that the reason the Eyak did not go to these places in former
days was because they were afraid of the Eskimo. He also

told us that in summer seals enter Eyak Lake and ascend
the Copper River as far as “Tea Kettle” (Tiekel at Mile
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Ninety-six on the Copper River Railway). In winter they
apparently stay in the open sea, and that is why he did
not know that seals have to keep open their breathing holes
when they are imprisoned under solid ice. There was,
therefore, no hunting of seals at their breathing holes.
Galushia maintained that the throwing-board for the
sealing harpoon was used only by the Eskimo. Johnny
Stevens claimed it for the Eyak also, though the type he
described was almost identical with the Chugach Eskimo
form. It was made of wood, with a pitted projection at the
end into which the butt of the dart fitted. There was a hand grip
at the other end with a hole to accomodate the forefinger. The
Chugach throwing-board differed only in possessing apointed
projection which fitted into the hollowed butt of the dart.
The harpoon, according to Galushia, had a detachable
harbed head with tang. The toggle harpoon head with socket
was unknown. The harpoon shaft was a little longer than
the span of a man’s outstretched arms. There was no socket-
piece, and the head was hafted directly into a hole in the

- wooden shaft, bound about with lashings to prevent splitting.

The head was fastened by a short line to the fore end of
the shaft, where the line was attached at two places, one
above the other, and was further secured by sinew lashings.
At the butt of the shaft another line, or the continuation of
the harpoon line, was also fastened on at two places, and
then led to the float, an inflated seal stomach. Just in front
of the float, another line was fastened to the main line and
this was tied about the hunter’s waist. In case the seal
dragged him too close to the edge of the ice, the hunter
would cut this line. The same harpoon was used when
sealing from the canoe. When not in use, the harpoon was
kept outside the house, under the overturned canoe.
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In the Jacossen collection there are five bone and two
iron harpoon heads, the native name of which is given as
“katt”, (Plate 13,5, 6, 7). For one of theiron specimens (B-MV,
IV A 6335) it is expressly stated that it is used both for seals
and salmon; as, however, the name and the type are the
same for all, there is hardly any doubt that this information
may apply also to the rest of them.

IV A 6337 is a bone head with four strongly projecting,
unilateral barbs. The tang is pointed and provided with a
line hole near the barbed edge. Length 18.7 cm. IV A 6339
and 6340 are also made of bone, but provided with five
barbs and wedge-shaped tangs. Lengths 14.7 and 11.1 c¢m.
respectively. IV A 6341 and 6342 are similar to the two
preceeding pieces, though having only three and four barbs
respectively. Lengths 11.7 and 11 em. The iron heads,
IV A 6335 and 6363, have four barbs, but are otherwise
of the same type as the bone specimens. Lengths 19 and
12.2 em. To IV A 6363 there is fastened a double line,
22 cm. long and made of seal thong whipped with sinew
thread.

ABERCROMBIE does not think that the Eyak did much
seal hunting, though Long Jim (from Taral on the Copper
River) and Shorty (an exiled Tlingit) used to kill them. The
Eyak used the kayak to some extent in sealing, but speared
most of their seals from the shore. ABERCROMBIE says that
they used the same spear or harpoon for both fish and seals,
see, therefore, Plate 12, 2, and Plate 13, 1, 2, which will be
described in the section on Fishing. ABERCROMBIE did not
see any harpoons with throwing-board nor any harpoons
with float.

In describing sea-mammal hunting, ABERCROMBIE wrote:

“The old musket is used for sea otter, and occasionally for

The Eyak Indians of the Copper River Delta, Alaska. 111

seal, but they also use the bow and arrow. The bow is not
very powerful, although sufficiently so for the short ranges
at which it is employed. While it throws an arrow fairly
well, the bowmen show no great degree of skill. The arrow
has a detachable barb fastened to the shaft by a thong of
twisted sinew. The arrangement leaves the point implanted
in the body of the seal, or otter, and not only tends to inter-
tere with the animal when it dives, but also impedes the
animal’s attempts to escape.”’!

Sea-otter were hunted off the Egg Islands and Strawberry
Point, Hinchinbrook Island. The use of the kayak in sea-
otter hunting has already been discussed. ABERCROMBIE adds
in conversation, however, that he doubts if the Eyak ever
went after sea-otter unless invited by the Eskimo when the
latter needed extra men to fill out the circle of baidarkas.
We suspect that he exaggerates the Eyaks’ timidity. The
Eskimo at Nuchek, he says, had an old man who acted as a
weather prophet for the sea-otter hunt. During the day he
used to climb the hills north of Nuchek to keep watch for
Eyak poachers, because the Eskimo regarded the sea-otier
grounds as their own territory.

Five harpoon arrowheads for sea-otter in the JACOBSEN
collection are made of copper (B-MV, IV A 6343—47, native
name ‘WM. They all belong to be same barbed
type as the big harpoon heads previously described, having
three unilateral barbs, a wedge—shaped tang, and a line hole
close to the barbed edge. IV A 6343 has a length of 4.3 cm.
Attached to the head there is a fragment of a line made
of finely braided sinew thread forming two parallel strands.
At regular intervals red thread and white hair have been
wound around the strands, thus producing 2 sort of

1 ABERCROMBIE 1900, 397.
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chequered pattern. IV A 6344 has a length of 4 em.; frag-
ment of a simple line of braided sinew thread. The lengths
of IV A 6345, 6346, and 6347 are 3.8, 3.5, and 3.2 cm.
respectively. The last mentioned specimen has also a frag-
ment of a simple sinew line like IV A 6344.

Bird Hunting.

The birds hunted by the Eyak include the various
species of duck, geese, swan, ptarmigan, and grouse. The
last two could be hunted during the winter, since they
remained all the year round. The other birds, however,
were killed chiefly in August when they were moulting. The
Eyak used sharp-pointed arrows or clubs. It was customary
for all the inhabitants of the village to join in driving the
moulting birds along the sloughs to a narrow place where
they could be forced ashore. In that case, they could be
killed by simply wringing their necks. The best time for
these drives was in the early morning or evening. All the
people shouted when driving the birds. In incident 21 of
the Raven cycle, a duck is shot with bow and arrow.

ABERCROMBIE saw the natives chasing moulting geese on
the mud flats near Alaganik. The whole village — men,
women, and children — would run after them. The geese
could outrun a man, so that to catch them, the natives
formed a big circle, gradually closing in. The birds would
try to hide behind drift wood, and some would succeed in
breaking through the circle. Those caught were killed with
clubs. The clubs were about 2 feet (60 ¢cm.) long, round
in section, and narrowed for a grip with a knob at the end
of the handle, as on a baseball bat. They were tough, and
ABERCROMBIE thinks that they were made of green wood

which had been purposely seasoned. He saw no spgcial -
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multipronged darts or arrows for birds, and no blunt-
headed arrows for stunning birds and small game.

The natives denied the use of slings and bolas.

The loon was not hunted, because a boy had once turned
into one (Tale 11).

Fishing.

Both our native informants and Colonel ABERCROMBIE
recognized the salmon as the most important source of food
in Eyak economy. Five species were known: the king, the
sockeye or red, called by a special name when it turns red
in fresh water just before spawning, the humpbacked, the
dog. and the silver. The first of these to run is the king,
and its appearance is announced by the arrival of the tern.
Information about the runs of these different species has
very kindly been furnished by the U. S. Bureau of Fisheries.
We quote from a letter by SEToN H. Taompson, Division of
Alaska Fisheries:

““Considering the entire Copper River delta from Martin
River to Point Whitshed and including Martin and Eyak
Rivers with Copper River as the Copper River region, it may
be said that only three species of salmon enter these water§.
These are the king [or chinook, Oncorhynchus tschawytschal,
the red [or sockeye, O. nerka], and coho salmon [or silver,
0. kisutch]. The run of kings begins from about the first of
May and ends about June 1. The red salmon run extends
from about May 5 to July 15. There are some red stragglers
in the delta waters as late as August 10 but they are com-
parati‘vély few and cannot be regarded as c.onsti'tuting. a
run. The principal part of the red salmon run in this region
has ascended the spawning streams before June 25. Red

salmon are abundant on the spawning gr ounds of Eyak
8
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Lake and Martin River during July and early August.
Spawning on most of the tributaries of Copper River takes
place in late July or August.

“The coho salmon runs in the Copper River region begin
about August 1 and continue until the end of September.
These fish have been observed on the spawning grounds
as late as November.”

In Prince William Sound, however, there are only a few
kings, reds, and silvers. The most important salmon are
the pink or humpbacked (Oncorhynchus gorbuscha), and
the chum or dog (0. keta). ““The pink salmon first appears
late in June, the runs reach a maximum about the middle
of July, and remain at a comparatively high level until
early August. Spawning takes place in nearly all of the
streams tributary to Prince William Sound and is in active
progress from late July until September. In some streams . . .
spawning is earlier and is complete by the middle of August.

“Chum salmon runs are somewhat earlier than the pink
runs, and they begin to enter the streams to spawn late in
June. Spawning is complete by early August.”

There were no family, moiety, or village rights over
fishing camps and streams. This is explained by ABER-
CROMBIE who says that there was no need for exclusive
fishing rites, since there were so many salmon in the Copper
River that the natives were able to catch their whole year’s
supply early in the season. The fish camps at Point Whitshed
and Mountain Slough have already been mentioned. These
places were not claimed or used exclusively by anyone group.

The natives were accustomed to stay atthese camps during the
salmon runs, though a number of families might remain to
catch fish at the permanent villages. The fishing was done
by the men, while the women cleaned and smoked the catch.
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Fish were speared from canoes (Galushia) and from the
river bank (ABERCROMBIE).

One type of spear, described by Galushia, had two points
made from a naturally forked branch, to which were lashed
barbs made of fire-hardened wood. The spear was twisted
to prevent the fish from wriggling free.

The other type of fish spear or harpoon is represented
by a specimen purchased from Scar Stevens (P-UM 30-99-1,
Plate 12, 2, and Plate 13, 2). This has a wooden shaft, 3.56
meters long. The diameter in the middle is about 3 cm.,
and the shaft tapers slightly towards both ends. It is fitted
with a detachable iron head, 14 cm.long, with two barbs
on the same side and <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>